
Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Monday 7 January 2019
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the Meeting held 2 November 2018  (Pages 3 - 12)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
6. Media Relations:  

   Verbal Update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer.
7. Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service Update:  (Pages 13 - 44)

(i) Report of the Director of Public Health, Adult and Health Services.
(ii) Presentation by Jane Sunter, Public Health Strategic Manager, Adult 

and Health Services and Ted Haughey, Executive Director of 
Operations North East and North Yorkshire for Humankind.

8. County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service - Integrated Risk 
Management Plan Consultation:  (Pages 45 - 88)
(i) Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.
(ii) Presentation by Stuart Errington, Chief Fire Officer, County Durham 

and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service.
9. County Durham Youth Offending Service - Youth Justice Plan 2018/19:  

(Pages 89 - 128)
   Report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services.



10. Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Report:  (Pages 129 - 146)
   Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.

11. Overview and Scrutiny Review Updates:  
   Verbal Update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer.

12. Police and Crime Panel:  
   Verbal Update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer.

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of 
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  20 December 2018

To: The Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Councillor D Boyes (Chairman)
Councillor H Liddle (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors B Avery, A Bainbridge, J Charlton, J Considine, R Crute, S Durham, 
D Hall, C Hampson, S Iveson, L Kennedy, J Maitland, E Mavin, J Nicholson, 
A Patterson, J Stephenson, D Stoker, K Thompson, J Turnbull and C Wilson

Co-opted Members: Mr D Balls and Mr A J Cooke

Co-opted Employees/Officers: Chief Fire Officer S Errington and 
Chief Superintendent A Green

Contact: Martin Tindle Tel: 03000 269 713



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Friday 2 November 2018 at 9.30 
am

Present:

Councillor D Boyes (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Bainbridge, J Charlton, J Considine, R Crute, D Hall, C Hampson, 
A Hopgood (substitute for D Stoker), S Iveson, L Kennedy, H Liddle, J Maitland, 
J Nicholson, A Patterson, J Stephenson, J Turnbull and C Wilson

Co-opted Members:
Mr D Balls and Mr A J Cooke

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors E Mavin and K Thompson, D 
Stoker and K Thompson and Chief Superintendent A Green.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor A Hopgood substituted for Councillor D Stoker.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held 21 September 2018 were agreed as a correct records 
and signed by the Chairman.

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Jonathan Slee noted that in relation to page six of the 
minutes, in reference to the Probation Service, Councillor S Iveson had asked for the 
number of high risk offenders managed in our area.  The Overview and Scrutiny Officer 
noted a response had been forwarded from the Head of the NPS – Durham and that the 
number for the Durham and Darlington area was 610.  

The Committee were informed that in respect of page seven of the minutes, Mr AJ Cooke 
had asked as regards policies in place relating to the handover of offenders to the Police.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted that Chief Superintendent A Green had offered to 
lead a development session in this regard if Members felt this would be helpful.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Members noted in reference to page 10 and the Performance Report, it was noted that a 
joint workshop session for Members of the Children and Young People’s and Safer and 
Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committees in respect of the JTAI Action 
Plan would be held on 8 November 2018.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no Declarations of Interest.

5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.

6 Media Relations 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred Members to the recent prominent articles and 
news stories relating to the remit of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (for copy see file of minutes).  The articles included: a “new charter to 
crack down on illegal loan sharks”, with the County Durham Savers Project working in 
partnership with Durham Constabulary, the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner (PCVC), Area Action Partnerships (AAPs), the Illegal Money Lending 
Team, the NE First Credit Union and Karbon Homes; and “Police urging motorists to keep 
cars safe this winter”, the annual programme of winter road safety messages, linking to the 
agenda item on road safety.

Resolved:

That the presentation be noted.

7 Safe Durham Partnership Board 

The Chairman introduced Assistant Chief Constable, Durham Constabulary, Dave Orford 
who, as Chair of the Safe Durham Partnership (SDP), was in attendance give Members an 
update in relation to the SDP Board.

The Chair of the SDP noted that he had undertaken partnership working throughout his 
Police career and reminded Members that partners did not just come together at SDP 
Board meetings, they worked together all the time to help deliver for our communities.  He 
explained that the vision for the SDP was for “A county where every adult and child will be, 
and feel, safe”, with the SDP Plan 2016-19, “Altogether Safer” to deliver on this.  It was 
noted that through a peer review to the strength of the SDP had been noted.

The Committee noted the evidence based MoRiLE (Management of Risk in Law 
Enforcement) approach, with key themes being: alcohol; sexual offences; road traffic, 
those killed or seriously injured (KSI); drug use; and organised crime.  It was explained 
that “cyber enabled” was a cross-cutting theme.  The Chair of the SDP noted there were 
also emerging issues such as modern slavery and human trafficking.

Page 4



Councillors noted that all partners understood that it was essential to keep the public 
informed and “on board” to ensure confidence and satisfaction.  It was added that this was 
a current area of focus and other areas included vulnerability strands, specifically: 
domestic abuse; sexual offences; “missing from home”, children, young people and adults; 
and cross-cutting themes such as alcohol and mental health.

The Chair of the SDP referred Members to a number of tables and graphs relating to: 
overall crime; crime perception and anti-social behaviour (ASB); reoffending; domestic 
violence and drug and alcohol harm reduction.  The Committee noted that the increase in 
crime, in the context of Durham Constabulary having been noted by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) as having very 
accurate crime recording.  It was added that while some increase was in relation to new 
recording methodology there were also new crimes with examples given including online 
fraud and online harassment.  Members were made aware of the volume of crime and the 
partnership work between Neighbourhood Policing Teams, AAPs and the Council in terms 
of being able to have an understanding of the “real” level of crime.  The Chair of the SDP 
highlighted that the “solved rate” had also increased, and also schemes such as 
Checkpoint were proving to be very positive.  Members noted working with the Probation 
Service and the work undertaken to reduce reoffending and the importance of information 
sharing in this regard.  The Committee were reminded that a lot of work had been 
undertaken in the last few years in terms of encouraging reporting of crime and increasing 
the public’s confidence to do so.

The Chair of the SDP explained the Partnership priorities, from July 2017: protecting 
vulnerable people from harm; reducing reoffending; alcohol and substance misuse harm 
reduction; counter terrorism and prevention of violent extremism; promote being safe and 
feeling safe in your environment; and cybercrime.  Councillors noted that, through their 
partnership approach, the SDP were continuing to understand and tackle barriers to safer 
communities and vulnerable people, as well as continuing to respond to change and 
effectively promote safer communities.  Members noted that the SDP was also addressing 
the wider social determinants of community safety.  The Chair of the SDP noted the 
activities and work undertaken by the partnership and noted the need to be outcome 
focussed and to target reducing resources effectively.  He explained a lot of the work being 
undertaken was proactive, although there was positive reactive work undertaken when 
necessary, for example in relation to arson and water safety.

The Chair of the SDP noted challenges faced by the SDP included: community intelligence 
and engagement; reduction of resources; and protecting the most vulnerable.  He 
concluded by noting the next steps would be: the development of the next SDP 
Partnership Plan in Spring 2019; to work together to add value and coordinate delivery; 
and to inform partners and build opportunities.        
  
The Chairman thanked the Chair of the SDP and asked Members of the Committee for 
their comments and questions.

Councillor C Wilson noted a scheme “Making the Link”, in relation to the known links 
between violence to animals often then leading to violence against people and asked if this 
was something the SDP was aware of.  The Chair of the SDP noted the association had 
been known to criminology for a number of years and asked if information on the scheme 
could be sent to him via the Overview and Scrutiny Officer.

Page 5



Mr AJ Cooke noted the statistics in relation to reoffending and asked if there were any 
specific reasons or commonalities, for example linked to the economy.  The Chief 
Executive, Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company (DTVCRC), Bronwyn 
Elphick noted that there were a number of circumstances that could impact on reoffending 
more widely, an example given being the reduction and changes in services nationally, 
such as drug and alcohol services and the introduction of Universal Credit.  She added 
that this was not necessarily the case in our area, and reiterated that County Durham and 
Darlington was not a hotspot in terms of reoffending.  The Chair of the SDP added that 
information to be able to provide early and bespoke interventions was important in 
reducing reoffending.  He explained that there was no “one size fits all” approach, although 
there was a process and an order to follow, and indeed some individuals may need to go 
through the process more than once.  Members noted that to ensure the best outcomes it 
was important for all agencies involved to link together, not only in terms of intelligence 
sharing, but also in being able to understand the budgetary and resources pressures faced 
by each organisation.

Councillor J Maitland asked as regards road traffic accidents (RTAs) and if there were 
numbers in terms of those falling asleep at the wheel.  The Chair of the SDP noted in his 
experience this had not been a large issue in our area, he added that the spike in RTAs 
had led to a piece of work looking at your people, risks, locations that maybe hotspots and 
work by the PCVC in our schools.  Councillor J Charlton asked as regards open water 
safety work.  The Chair of the SDP noted this was an area where a lot of good work had 
been undertaken and noted this was an area that was reported to the Committee on a 
regular basis.

Councillor J Considine asked as regards reoffending and whether the issue of prisoners 
being unable to access the process to apply for Universal Credit prior to their release, 
delaying benefit payments, was an issue and was there anything that could be done to 
help and improve the situation.  The Chair of the SDP noted that those involved were 
aware of this gap and MPs in the region had raised the issue at the national level.  The 
Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted that the current situation was they could not apply before 
release from prison and the £47 grant upon leaving prison would not bridge the delay in 
benefits they could face.

Councillor A Hopgood noted a recent television documentary featuring HMP Durham, and 
noted the adverse effects when people are released from prison.  She added that she felt 
the vision of the SDP was excellent though suggested that the “feel” and “be” safe be 
placed in the opposite order as when people feel safe then they with think they are safe.  
The Chair of the SDP noted this, and the Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted she had regular 
meeting with colleague from the Prison Service and noted methods of segregation within 
prisons, to prevent drug sales and that identifying and targeting was key.

Councillor D Hall asked if the detection rate in respect of crimes having seen a reduction 
was relation to issues such as witness intimidation, and was this possibility factored in, 
especially in cases of online abuse and intimidation.  The Chair of the SDP noted this was 
not an issue that had been raised in our Force Area, though he added he would look at the 
figures for our area to see if there was any issues.  He explained that the Police use of 
social media was in general extremely positive, with good feedback from Members of the 
public.

Page 6



The Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Andrea Petty noted that feedback on the SDP Plan 
would be reported back to Committee at its meeting in February 2019.

Resolved:

That the report and presentation be noted.

8 Probation Services - Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company 

The Chairman asked the Chief Executive, Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation 
Company (DTVCRC), Bronwyn Elphick to give Members an update in relation to the work 
of the Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company.

The Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted she would remind Members of the national context in 
terms of CRCs and provide an update in reference to the DTVCRC.

Members were asked to recall the Government process of “Transforming Rehabilitation” 
and the bidding process for the creation of CRCs and the success of the ARCC 
Partnership in securing the contract for DTVCRC, ARCC being the only partnership 
arrangement and the only not-for-profit CRC in the country, the majority being large 
multinational companies.  She explain that in general there had been far reaching 
criticisms around the reforms so far, and it was added that the model was “payment by 
results” and had proven to be extremely complex.  Members noted that most CRCs had 
not seen a reduction in reoffending and the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) had reacted by 
launching a further consultation, with contract specifications changing as a result.  The 
Chief Executive, DTVCRC explained that the second round of CRC contract would 
therefore be implemented from Autumn 2020 rather than in 2022.

It was explained that in addition to the contract specification changes, there would also be 
boundary and geography changes, to have 10 regional CRCs and one for Wales, aligning 
with the National Probation Service (NPS) boundaries, effectively merging the DTVCRC 
with the Northumbria CRC, with the partnership bidding for both areas.

The Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted that DTVCRC had been described as an “outlier” in 
relation to other CRCs at a Parliament Select Committee, noting that it was a non-for-profit 
organisation that was “making it work”.  She added that DTVCRC had fed around 
£500,000 back into the CRC to help with its work.  Members noted there were good 
working relationships with both the NPS and the PCVC which were beneficial to all 
partners involved in reducing reoffending.

It was explained that DTVCRC was the second smallest CRC, was in the top quarter 
performance against contract, and staff morale was very good.  Members noted that a gap 
that had been identified was in relation to links to local employers.  It was highlighted that 
the relationship with the NPS was praised in all audits and inspections that had been 
carried out.   

The Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted that the CRC supervised around 4,000 participants, 
with 830 in County Durham and Darlington.  She explained that 90% received face-to-face 
supervision in local community based venues.  

Page 7



It was noted that the approach taken was evidence based, helping to break down barriers, 
and that it helped community integration and provided a one-stop-shop with resources 
from partners being available.

The Committee were referred to slides setting out statistics of caseloads for Probation 
Officers and noted the operational delivery in County Durham and Darlington.

The Chief Executive, DTVCRC reminded Members of the delivery hubs, and various 
schemes operated in conjunction with partners and relevant agencies.  Members noted an 
innovative scheme, a “running club” for those linked to substance misusers within the 
Integrated Offender Management (IOM) scheme.  Councillors noted how the scheme 
helped in terms of occupying participants’ time, help with their health and fitness and also 
provided a good opportunity for conversations while running, providing good peer support.  
The Chief Executive, DTVCRC explained that the DTVCRC was involved with the PCVCs 
“one journey approach” to map the female offender journey from Court to Prison to release 
and had supported the PCVC bids for MoJ funding.  Members learned that the DTVCRC 
unpaid work clients had carried out approximately 5,000 hours of unpaid work on a 
number of projects, including: The Deans Park Project; parks adopted by Durham Wildlife 
Trust; and Finchale College.  Members noted several quote from local organisations 
praising the unpaid work undertaken which was of great benefit to those organisations and 
local communities.  

The Chief Executive, DTVCRC noted that in terms of issues going forward, ARCC were 
awaiting the outcome of a second bid and the consultation on Probation.  It was added that 
there was continued “joint responsibility” in terms of the partnership approach, though with 
perhaps some gaps in terms of the health and local authority priority groups.  She noted 
that other areas that would be explored included: better alignment of local employers with 
service users; services for white males, over 24 years old, and with substance misuse 
problems; the appetite for co-commissioning; PCVC involvement; and to ensure that 
DTVCRC continued to be woven into the fabric of our local communities.

The Chairman thanked the Chief Executive, DTVCRC and asked Members of the 
Committee for their comments and questions.   

Mr D Balls noted that initially when the Transforming Rehabilitation process had begun 
many were vehemently opposed to the splitting and privatisation of probation services, in 
terms of the CRCs.  He added that he felt that DTVCRC was an exception to this and had 
performed very well, in contrast to the maxim “bigger is better”.  He suggested that other 
CRCs could learn best practice from the DTVCRC.  The Chief Executive, DTVCRC agreed 
with Mr D Balls in terms of what the initial reaction to Transforming Rehabilitation had been 
in some quarters.  She thanked him for his support and noted that the ARCC approach 
had been highlighted within the latest consultation as an example of best practice.  She 
noted the good relationships that DTVCRC had with the NPS and MoJ, however, 
reiterated that the bidding process was competitive, adding she felt ARCC had a proven, 
strong track record.  The Chairman added she understood there was a good relationship 
with the NPS, with the Head of the NPS – Durham having presented an update report at 
the last meeting of the Committee.

Councillor D Hall asked if the contract allowed for preventative work to be undertaken in 
addition to that described.  The Chief Executive, DTVCRC explained that the contract was 
complex, however, did allow for such work.  

Page 8



She added there was a diversion scheme in Cleveland that CRC staff were involved with 
and while prevention would in turn reduced the numbers coming through the CRC, it was 
seen as the right thing to do, preventing people entering the system, and this point had 
been made in the bid submitted.

Resolved:

That the report and presentation be noted.

9 County Durham Road Safety Partnership 

The Chairman introduced Strategic Traffic Manager, and Chair of the SDP’s Road 
Casualty Reduction Partnership, Dave Wafer, who was in attendance give Members an 
update in relation to Road Casualties in 2017.

The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that most figures within the presentation were for 
2017, with some being for 2016 where this was the most up-to-date data and that had 
been published nationally for comparison.  He noted that the had been an increase in all 
casualties, when compared to the 2010-14 baseline figures and previous years’ figures, 
and with the regional and County Durham increases being greater than the national 
average.  Members were referred to a graph comparing local authorities, with all road 
users, KSIs per billion vehicle miles for 2016.  It was explained that County Durham was in 
the second quartile, comparing favourably with other local authorities, however the 
increase being 8% from 2016 and 18% above the baseline figure.  He noted, from 
discussions nationally in relation to the increasing figures, it was not certain as whether 
there were issues in relation to reporting and whether this would even out after a period.

The Strategic Traffic Manager explained that the year-to-date figures for 2018 were such 
that should the trend continue, the numbers would be down by around one-third, with a 
significant reduction.  He noted with sadness there had been 9 fatalities in 2018, adding 
that this was a low number in terms of comparison, with these figures falling year-on-year.  

In relation to pedestrians, it was explained that numbers remained similar year-on-year, 
with a decrease regionally, and a slight decrease in comparison to the baseline figures for 
County Durham.  It was noted that he County and the region both compared favourably 
nationally, with more urban areas having higher numbers of pedestrian casualties.

Members learned in respect of cyclist casualties there was a steady decrease in the 
figures, despite there being an increasing number of cyclists using our roads.  The 
Strategic Traffic Manager noted this was good news and reiterated as predominately a 
rural county, Durham did not have a many incidents as more urban areas.

The Committee were informed that in terms of motorcycle users, numbers were roughly 
static in relation overall casualties, however, this was offset by a rise in the number of KSIs 
in Durham compared to the previous year.  

The Strategic Traffic Manager explained that noted that in terms of children up to five 
years old the region and County Durham had fewer overall casualties, however, 
comparing nationally performance was in the lower quartile.  He added that 2018 figures 
may highlight improvement when published.  

Page 9



Members noted that in comparison, young people aged 17 to 24 years old showed very 
good performance with a significant decrease and with comparison with other areas shown 
Durham in the upper quartile.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that in would be 
important to try and understand why there was this difference between the age groups, 
suggesting that the younger children were more likely to be pedestrians and those aged 
17-24 more likely to be in a vehicle.

Councillors noted in terms of older people, aged 70 and older there had been an increase 
in the number of casualties, however, while there was an increase in the number of older 
people nationally, there had been a greater increase in the number of older people as a 
proportion of the population in County Durham.  It was added that while the trend was not 
in the direction we would wish, the performance when compared nationally was good, 
being in the upper quartile.

The Strategic Traffic Manager referred Members to a list of road safety projects that had 
been delivered, including: the 20mph Limits Project; Junior Road Safety Officer; 
WiseDrive; Safety Carousels; BikeWise; SAGE; Excelerate; car seat fitting and checking; 
Police enforcement activities; Road Safety Great Britain (RSGB) North East campaigns; 
AAP Road Safety Initiative pilot; and Business Road Safety.

The Committee noted that for 2019 there would be a new targeted approach, with: 
mapping of all casualties by AAP area; school based carousels; community based road 
safety; and a young driver scheme.

The Chairman thanked the Strategic Traffic Manager and asked Members for their 
comments and questions.

Councillor A Hopgood noted the statistics in terms of up to five years old and those aged 
17-24 years old and asked as regards those in between, aged six to 16 years old.  The 
Strategic Traffic Manager noted that those categories were those reported nationally and 
there did not seem to be an issue in relation to that age group.  Councillor A Hopgood 
asked if issues such as the darker winter nights have an impact on figures.  The Strategic 
Traffic Manager noted it did and that changing driving conditions also had an effect, and 
that it was more important at this time to raise the issue of “being visible”.  The Chairman 
asked if removal of streetlights and replacement of sodium lamps with LED lights had 
made an impact.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted he did not know of any statistics 
that showed this and noted no issues or concerns in this regard, with the LED light being 
white and of a better quality.

Mr AJ Cooke asked as regards further education of road users in terms of the dangers, 
noting for example he had witnesses several drivers using their mobile phones on the way 
to the meeting.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that distraction of drivers was a huge 
issue and that Government had increased the penalties associated and there was 
increased Police activity in this regard.  He noted that the message would get through to 
the public over time, however, he added that many of the national campaigns that would 
have been widely publicised in previous years were no longer as widespread on traditional 
media, he added however, there was a lot more activity on social media in this regard.

Councillor D Hall asked if it was possible to drill down into the child casualty statistics, to 
look at whether the perception of road safety issues matched reality.  

Page 10



He asked as regards accidents with no casualties, whether they were recorded or 
triggered an action and also as regards the consistency in terms of speed surveys on 
roads when looking at concerns relating to speeding.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted 
that in terms of child casualties there was evidence of a correlation with more incidents in 
areas of deprivation, adding that in terms of breaking down the causes, that was more 
challenging.  He added that in terms of junctions and other areas of concern, there was in 
many cases hidden measures that could be incorporated into the design to make people 
drive safer.  He noted there was some data in terms of incidents where there was damage 
only, for example upon speaking to maintenance teams, however, priority was given to 
those incidents with casualties.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that in relation to 
speed limits, drivers in general would drive to the road conditions presented to them, and 
that while speed limits and signage was one approach, in some instances physical 
measures to modify the road environment would be preferable, however, this solution 
required more resources.  The Chairman noted that when Members sitting on Planning 
Committees received accident information it was often that they were told there were no 
incidents on a particular road, however, Members would know of incidents without 
casualties.  The Strategic Traffic Manager said that all incidents with an injury would be 
recorded in the statistics given to Members.

Councillor J Considine asked as regards issues in terms of uninsured drivers.  
Superintendent Richie Allen, Durham Constabulary noted that with the technology now 
available to Officers it was easier to access data in relation uninsured driver and also to 
seize and crush vehicles as appropriate.  He added he could look to bring statistics on this 
back to the Committee.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that the chance of uninsured 
drivers being caught was now very high.

Mr D Balls asked if accidents near to schools were as a consequence of the number of 
parents dropping or picking up their children at the school, a result of the large number of 
vehicles those times.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that while school start and 
finish times can seem chaotic, a lot of the time the traffic is moving very slowly and there 
are not a large number of incidents in these areas.  He added that in terms of child 
casualties, they were more often further away from schools, closer to children’s homes, 
noting it was very important that children were taught to cross roads safely.

Councillor C Wilson noted an example in her area of poor visibility due to parking laybys 
and that suggestions for a mirror on trees opposite had been rejected and asked what the 
criteria was and what other measures may be possible in such cases.  The Strategic 
Traffic Manager noted that in terms of the placement of mirrors there was national 
guidelines and criteria that local authorities must follow and in some cases a mirror could 
give drivers a false sense of security.  He noted depending upon the exact conditions then 
it may be possible to remove parking, or bring any give way markers forward or make 
other physical changes.

Councillor R Crute noted that deprivation had been cited as a factor in relation to child 
casualties and asked why this was not a factor with older people, referring to the graphs 
presented that showed areas such as Westminster and Chelsea with higher numbers of 
incidents with older people.  The Strategic Traffic Manager noted that it may relate to the 
numbers of older people in those areas and the density and volume of traffic in those city 
locations. 

Page 11



Resolved:

That the report and presentation be noted.

10 Overview and Scrutiny Review Updates 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update in relation to the review activities 
of the Committee.

He noted the progress in terms of a Working Group that would look at the Road Safety 
Strategy, to provide feedback to the Road Safety Partnership, and would provide further 
information to Members in respect of this issue in due course.

It was added that in relation to the Joint Working Group with the Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to Private Children’s Residential 
Care Homes that the initial meeting had taken place and there had been positive feedback 
from the meeting.  He explained that there would be a focus session held with those 
Members that had Residential Care Homes in their Division.  Councillor A Hopgood noted 
that this was very useful.  Councillor R Crute added that the initial meeting of the Group 
had been very positive and had highlighted several important issues, including in relation 
to new care homes and planning.

Resolved:

That the verbal update be noted.

11 Police and Crime Panel 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update report in respect of the Police and 
Crime Panel (PCP), noting issues considered at the last meeting of the Panel included: the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive to the Office of the PCVC, Stephen White, who 
would take up the post in early 2019. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted that information in terms items relating to Quarter 
One Performance Report and outcomes relating to the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan 
would be circulated to Members.

Resolved:

That the verbal update be noted.

Page 12



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

7 January 2019

Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 
Update 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult and 
Health Services 

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report
1 To provide Members of the Committee with an update on information in 

advance of a presentation by Jane Sunter, Public Health, Durham 
County Council and Ted Haughey, Executive Director of Operations 
North East and North Yorkshire for Humankind, on the progress of the 
implementation of substance misuse services within the county. 

Executive summary
2 A new County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for adults, 

young people and family members affected by substance misuse 
launched on February 1st, 2018.  

3 The service commissioned by the County Council and is being delivered 
by Humankind (formerly known as DISC) in partnership with Spectrum 
Community Health CIC and The Basement Project. 

4 Tackling drug and alcohol misuse is an area of importance for the Safer 
and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and has 
featured on agendas of committee meetings and focused pieces of work 
over recent years. 

5 This update report was requested by The Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 March 2018. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



6 Cabinet gave approval for the procurement of the Drug and Alcohol 
Recovery Service on 13th September 2017. The Drug and Alcohol 
Recovery Service model has now been implemented as stipulated in 
the service specification. 

Recommendation(s)
7 To review the information contained in the report 

Background
8 The provision of effective substance misuse services in County Durham 

makes a significant contribution to tackling health inequalities, 
increasing life expectancy, improving the health and well-being of 
families and reducing crime and disorder in our local communities. 

9 In a recent Public Health England Review (January 2017) it was 
estimated that for every £1 spent on substance misuse treatment there 
is a £2.50 saving recuperated on the social costs of drug misuse, 
making sound sense for local authorities to continue to invest in 
supporting people into recovery. 

10 The remodel of the Drug and Alcohol Service took place in September 
2017, in order to meet a revised financial allocation of £1.3m savings 
and provide an opportunity to review best practice and re-design the 
service specification 

11 Key priorities for the new specification highlighted the need for:  

a) Providing outreach support – for the workforce to become more 
mobile, taking services “out” to clients to extend the service 
reach. This will increase referrals and help to reduce social 
isolation, especially in alcohol clients.

b) Better Integration – for the drug and alcohol service, to become 
more “outward” focused, working in partnership with other 
partners to achieve common goals. 

c) Improved pathways - This includes a number of key pathways 
for criminal justice, primary care, mental health and the social 
care provision for children, young people and families.

d) Become more family focused – placing families at the heart of 
the service regardless of their entry point into the system, helping 
to break the cycle of intergenerational substance misuse.

e) Reinvigorating the prevention and early intervention agenda 
– For drugs and alcohol to be included in wider health, wellbeing 
and social care interventions.

12 The new model transitions services into a community outreach model. 
This provides a new approach to increasing the accessibility of high 
quality of drug and alcohol services into the local community setting.  

Progress to date 

Page 14



Providing outreach support 

13 The service’s staffing model has been designed to provide all service 
aspects across all areas of the County, supporting recovery centre and 
community satellite activity. All service staff have a recovery centre 
base and work across designated satellite areas.

14 Additionally, Humakind have added the support of a dedicated Senior 
Peripatetic Manager and Business Support Manager to support service 
development and delivery. An additional resource of a full time Human 
Resources Advisor has also been invested to support the service team 
across a number of HR-related issues.

16 Humankind have completed the decommissioning of the Recovery 
Centres in Thames House, Newton Aycliffe and Church Street in 
Seaham with no significant attrition rates from service users. 

17 Service support continues to be managed through the main recovery 
centre sites within Peterlee and Bishop Auckland.  

18 A community satellite offer for service users in the East and South of 
the County has also been implemented with local sessions in the 
Pioneering Care Partnership in Newton Aycliffe, Seaham Primary Care 
Centre and Seaham Job Centre.  

19 North Durham retains a staff base in the Durham Recovery Centre, 
Whinney Hill. The re-configured use of Eden House in Consett 
compliments provision in Stanley Medical Centre as satellite clinic 
venues. 

20 Options to further utilise the capacity within Eden House is being 
explored in line with potential Public Health Engalnd Capital Funding 
applications sheduled for submission in January 2019. 

21 Further provision in Consett will also includes peer support/breakfast 
club activities within the Salvation Army and commencement of regular 
sessions within Job Cenre Plus, Consett.

22 In additional to the community satellite offer service team members are 
providing outreach sessions into the following community venues: 

a) Pelton Fell Community Centre 
b) The Fells at Plawsworth 
c) Glenroyd House 
d) Job Centre – Consett 
e) Durham University 
f) Eden Hill Hospital 
g) West Park Hospital 
h) Murton GP Practice
i) University Hospital of North Durham 
j) Richardson Hospital, Barnard Castle 
k) Lanchester Road Hospital 
l) North Road Methodist Church

Page 15



Needle Exchange Provision

23 Alongside the extended community offer, Humankind have also 
expanded pharmacy needle exchange provision to complement the 
centre based needle exchange services. There are new pharmacy 
needle exchange providers in Seaham, Horden and Consett.

24 Working with the Councils neighbourhood teams a needle litter 
campaign will be developed across all communites further embedding 
programmes for the testing and treatment pathways for Blood Borne 
Viruses (BBV’s).

Children, Young People and Families (CYPF)

25 The CYPF service continues to enjoy strong working relationships with 
both Childrens and Adults social services and mental helth services 
offering support to children and young people via one to ones and drop 
in’s into the following schools and educational venues: 

a) Woodham 
b) Bishop Auckland College 
c) Framwellgate School
d) Durham Johnson School 
e) Laurel Avenue Childrens Centre
f) Parkview School 
g) New College Durham
h) Durham Federation
i) Box Clever 
j) North Durham Academy 
k) Endeavour EDC
l) East Durham College
m) Bishop Barrington
n) King James 
o) South Durham Training

26 Humankind also have fullfilled the contractual obligation to have a 
presence within the One Point Hubs county wide and the Youth 
Offending Service. This  facilitates support sessions for children and 
young people and also enable engagment in multi-agency meetings.  

27 The CRAFT and peer support family offer available for both adult and 
childrens services will be available across all three recovery centres in 
the New Year. 

Service Updates

Criminal Justice

28 A new dedicated criminal justice team and associated pathways have 
been established to manage all mandated orders such as Alcohol 
Treatment Requirements (ATR) and Drug Rehabilitation Requirements 
(DRR).  

Page 16



Programmes of care for criminal justice clients have been restructured 
and include both behaviour change and clinical components dependent 
on individual need.  

29 Pathways continue to be developed with the Council’s VIP scheme, 
Durham Constabulary’s Checkpoint and the Integrated Offender 
Management Unit (IOM). This includes information sharing agreements 
to help facilitate a collaborative culture supporting positive shared 
outcomes for service users.  

30 Humankind are also working with Durham and Darlington and Durham 
Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company (Probation, CRC) who 
now have a worker co-located in the  Bishop Auckland Recovery Centre 
one day a week, this supports the ATR/DRR process, affords robust 
attendance and supports information transfer. This model will be 
extended countywide into 2019/20.

31 A dedicated Prison Link Worker also visits HMP’s Durham and Low 
Newton on a regular basis to complete assessment for pending prison 
releases. This is a fundamental partnership arrangement, with the 
transfer of relevant information being paramount.

32 The provision of naloxone and needle exchange equipment within 
custody suites is also being explored. The development of a 
collaborative relationship the probation Court Teams around allocation 
of ATR/DRR orders for appropriate clients is also being considered. 

HOPE Team

33 The service’s HOPE (Health, Outreach, Prevention and Engagement) 
team have made significant links with a range of key stakeholders, 
including primary care to support engagement with individuals who 
would benefit from prevention and early intervention messages. This 
approach increases the reach for those clients unwilling to access what 
are perceived as traditional “drug services.”

34 HOPE staff have established regular service sessions with TEWV as 
mental health partners, with weekly sessions in both Lanchester Road 
and West Park Hospital. This compliments the work of the in-house 
provision of adult social care social workers focusing on implementing 
the Care Act for complex clients. 

35 Positive contact has been made with University Hospital North Durham 
including support from lead consultants. It is hoped that service staff will 
offer regular sessions within CDDFT from early in the New Year, 
including A and E, gastroenterology and midwifery. 

36 A number of presentations have been delivered to GP surgeries with 
several more planned in January and February 2019. Service sessions 
are being offered in a number of surgeries where there is high demand.

 

Page 17



37 Links have been made with the Wellbeing for Life Service team, with 
plans being developed for practitioners and navigators to contribute to 
wellbeing groups within recovery centres. The service are planning to 
provide drug and alcohol awareness training for Wellbeing for Life staff.

38 Service staff will receive smoking cessation training in January. Upon 
completion service staff will provide stop smoking advice and 
information at key assessment and review points within an individual’s 
recovery journey, alongside supported access to the smoking cessation 
service team.

Children, Young People and Families

39 The Children Young People and Families team are fully embedded 
within the integrated service and see regular daily referrals from a range 
of partners.  The team currently support 136 (as of December 2018), 
Children and Young People across County Durham and a Single Point 
of Contact duty system allows for ease of referrals via telephone, drop 
in or secure email.

40 Humankind work closely with our safeguarding partners attending a 
range of meetings including Team Around Family, Team Around 
Children, Team Around Schools, Education Raising Awareness of 
Sexual Exploitation, Child Protection meetings, domestic violence 
agencies (Harbour) and Early Help forums.  The service also facilitates 
drop in’s and pre arranged events such as carousels, Freshers Week, 
Alcohol Awareness week activity and Missing and Exploited Group 
(MEG) meetings.

41  A full time worker is co-located within the MASH and two workers are 
co-located within the Youth Offending Team supporting young people 
within the criminal justice system and co-facilitating information 
sessions for parents. 

42 Dedicated pathways have been established for alcohol seizures working 
closely with Durham Police teams to target young people drinking within 
the community, vulnerable children, ERASE and hospital admissions. 

43 Support given to education includes:

a) Junior Education Programme, multi-agency approach - delivering one 
session on the program to year 6.

b) Durham Constabulary stay safe carousels - year 8 - deliver KS3 drug 
education.

c) Student Voice Survey - input on questions on drugs, alcohol and 
energy drinks.

d) 'Have a Word' developed for students by students – this initiative won 
an Alcohol Impact Award.

e) 98 primary schools had energy drink awareness training this year.
f) Education sessions at Bishop College for all first years, two young 

people requested support, one referred to young people’s worker 
other to young carers.

Page 18



Safeguarding

43      In response to recommendations from Durham Count Council’s recent 
Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) for Domestic Abuse, Humankind 
have reconfigured the service-staffing model to create a new 
Safeguarding and Families lead role as recommended within the 
Inspection report. This role will be operational from January 2019, 
leading on case reviews, quality, cross reference with SSID/Liquid 
Logic, case tracking and safeguarding supervision.

Sustained Recovery

44 The programme and aftercare offer provided by the service has been 
fully reviewed and updated since February 2017. Each of the three 
Recovery Centre’s have a timetable of group sessions and activities 
that are mandated as part of a service user’s recovery plan. These 
sessions range from informal peer activities such as breakfast clubs, 
more formal peer support activities such as SMART groups, short 
structured group sessions through to formal 12 week group 
programmes.

45 Recovery Academy Durham (RAD) programme has been fully updated, 
with the support of the Basement Project. Service users wishing to 
attend a full time structured day programme now attend core RAD 
groups and build the remainder of their weekly timetable from the wider 
group/activity offer available within the service. RAD supported housing 
is also still available. 

46 Wider support with accommodation (for all service users) is being 
provided through effective working links with Housing Solutions, local 
housing providers and Humankind’s Housing Team.

47 The service’s ambassador and volunteer programme is fully operational 
with 9 service ambassadors and 3 volunteers.

48 Support is also being provided to the independent County Durham in 
Recovery (CDIR) via the Basement Project as part of the subcontract 
arrangement with Humankind. CDIR have an agreed annual action plan 
and are developing the offer across the County. 

49 The sessions based within North Road Methodist Church have been 
exceptionally popular. A successful CDIR launch event was held on 10th 
December. Although the service are supporting CDIR, this support has 
a strong focus on enabling CDIR to become an independent, self-
sustaining recovery community group.

Clinical Recovery Support

50 All clinical prescribing pathways and protocols have been reviewed and 
updated to support safe and effective prescribing. The clinical team 
provided by Spectrum Community Health CIC, have formed a BBV 
working group to promote harm reduction and immunisation/treatment 
to all service users.  

Page 19



51 This initiative includes working closely with the Freeman Hospital in 
Newcastle to provide regular clinics across all three of recovery centres. 
Bishop Auckland has been identified as an area requiring additional 
resources. 

52  A campaign was held during the first week of December, which 
included delivering promotional events around naloxone and Blood 
Borne Viruses (BBV) testing and treatment. Events included training for 
staff to administer naloxone and BBV testing across all three recovery 
centres.  

53 During the campaign week 44 patients were tested for HIV – No positive 
results were found. 77 patients were tested for Hepatitis C, with eight 
Positive test results yielded, all clients accepted a referral for Hep C 
treatment to the Freeman Hospital on the day of the positive diagnosis.  

54 40 patients were trained to use naloxone and provided with a naloxone 
kit, which counteracts the effect of an opiate overdose. 

Main Implications 

Performance Outcomes

55 Since Febuary 2018, the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service has made 
steady progress to deliver on the 2017/18 service specification. The 
delivery of the new model has required significant change within a 
reduced funding allocation. 

56 This work has included the implementation of a new staffing structure, 
building reconfigurations, new satalite sourcing with associated client 
management and a CQC inspection (October 2018). Despite this 
backdrop of change, the perfomance of the service has only fallen 
marginally since Febuary 2018. 

57 The performance for the drug and Alcohol Recovery Service is recorded 
through the national Drug Treatment Monitoring System. The tables 
below highlight the outcomes of interventions for Quarter 1 and 2 (April 
– September 2018). Outcomes in 2018/19 will provide a baseline 
tracker for year 1 of the contract.  

Page 20



Table 1. Numbers in treatment (April 2018 – September 2018) taken from 
NDTMS

Indicator Definition Baseline 
(2017/18)

2018/19 
Target Apr May Jun Qtr 1 Jul Aug Sep Qtr 2

Direction 
of travel 

from 
baseline

National

Numbers in treatment (direction of travel compared to corresponding period of the previous year)
22 Opiates 1497 1474 1279 1353 
23 Non-opiates 406 350 210 263 
24 Alcohol 1101 1096 559 709 
25 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 367 354 188 247 
26 Pregnant women 17 Tracker 4 7 

Numbers in treatment during the 
year to date:

58      The numbers in treatment have dropped when comparing the baseline 
of 2017/18. This is to be expected due to the significant changes 
occurring within the new model implementation. The reduction in alcohol 
clients reflects the national trend in those accessing treatment. 
However, figures are increasing in opiates and non-opiate outcomes in 
County Durham. 

Table 2. Proportion in treatment who Successfully Complete (April – 
September 2018) taken from NDTMS, 2018.

Indicator Definition Baseline 
(2017/18)

2018/19 
Target Apr May Jun Qtr 1 Jul Aug Sep Qtr 2

Direction 
of travel 

from 
baseline

National

Effective treatment
32 Opiates 91.9% 90.9% 92.6% 92.5%  94.7%

33 Non-opiates 67.4% 76.0% 70.1% 73.9%  84.7%

34 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 74.4% 76.6% 73.6% 72.8%  86.3%
Successful completions as a proportion of all in treatment

35 Opiates 5.5% 6.0% 5.7% 5.8% 5.8% 5.1% 5.1%  6.2%

36 Non-opiates 28.8% 31.5% 29.6% 30.6% 32.3% 32.9% 34.5%  38.6%

37 Alcohol 32.6% 28.1% 32.5% 32.5% 31.3% 31.5% 32.1%  38.6%

38 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 24.5% 27.5% 25.6% 25.5% 26.5% 24.0% 24.2%  34.0%

Proportion in treatment who 
were retained for 12 weeks or 
more or completed treatment

Number of successful 
completions as a proportion of all 

in treatment

59       The rates for numbers retained in treatment continue to increase in 
opiate and non-opiate service users in Quarter 1 and 2 (2018). 
Successful completion rates for all those in treatment for non-opiates, 
alcohol and alcohol and non-opiates remain stable. 

Table 3. Representation rates (April – September 2018) taken from NDTMS, 
2018.

Public Health Outcomes Framework 2.15: Successful completions of drug / alcohol treatment
39 Opiates 6.4% 6.0% 6.4% 6.0% 6.0% 5.5% 5.2%  6.3%

40 Non-opiates 30.1% 26.4% 31.2% 30.6% 30.8% 29.2% 27.8%  36.4%

41 Alcohol 31.9% 28.0% 32.8% 33.6% 33.8% 32.2% 31.7%  39.0%
Re-presentations

42 Opiates 13.1% ≤24.7% 13.5% 11.8% 9.5% 24.2% 26.5%  16.5%

43 Non-opiates 7.5% ≤8.4% 6.7% 4.9% 2.6% 3.0% 1.7%  5.3%

44 Alcohol 9.9% ≤9.4% 7.9% 7.8% 8.2% 8.6% 9.4%  8.1%

45 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 14.5% ≤8.2% 13.0% 14.3% 14.0% 13.6% 13.3%  8.1%

Proportion of all in treatment, 
who successfully completed 

treatment and did not re-present 
within 6 months

Proportion who successfully 
completed treatment in the first 6 

months of the latest 12 month 
period and re-presented within 6 

months

60      As a further update in November 2018, the service has exceeded 
targets for the numbers of alcohol-only clients and none-opiate and 
crack users (non- OCU) for Successful Completions. For opiate 
completions, the service is only two Successful Completions away from 
target at year to date (December, 2018) Page 21



61 Focus needs to be placed on the combined use of alcohol and other 
substance catagories, which are 20 clients short of the Successful 
Completion targets year to date. Humankind have undertaken a full 
caseload review and are confident performance can be further improved 
over the remainder of the contractual year.

Table 4.Successful Completion numbers  year to date at end of November 
2018

Primary drug use Annual target set Successful Completions 
achived (YTD)

Opiate 65 63
Non-opiate 89 91
Alcohol and non-opiate 73 53
Alcohol only 219 239

Conclusion

62 The Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service contract was procured in 
February 2018. The service has transitioned into a new model focusing 
on an integrated family-focused approach to managing substance 
misuse. This has been undertaken against a backdrop of a reduced 
funding envelope, implementating a new staffing structure, geographical 
building reconfigurations and new satelite outreach and access being 
developed. 

63      New pathways for criminal justice, primary care, mental health and 
complex cases, children, young people and families have all been 
developed  to extend the reach of the service and work with partners to 
enagae clients based within their own local mcommunitiies. 

64      Despite this backdrop of change, the perfomance of the service has not 
fallen significantly since Febuary 2018. 2018/19 will provide baseline 
data for future contract monitoring,  where it is hoped the foundations 
laid in the first year of service implemetation will further increase 
recovery outcomes.   

Contact: Jane Sunter Tel:  03000 266897

Page 22



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
The Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service has been procured through Durham 
County Council due process.

Finance
The contract value was allocated to Drug and Alcohol Recovery services will 
remain constant until 2020/2021

Consultation
A full consultation process was undertaken about the need of the new service 
to be procured in 2017/18

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality and diversity have been fully considered in terms of access into 
services and policies to support the implementation of the contract and 
service. 

Human Rights
No infringement of human right has been identified.

Crime and Disorder
Drug and Alcohol Recovery Services will impact on reducing levels for crime 
and Disorder in our local communities.

Staffing
A full process of staff TUPE has been undertaken as part of the service 
transition.

Accommodation
There have been 3 Recovery Centres retained as staff bases in Durham city, 
Peterlee and Bishop Auckland. Community satellite venues have been 
sourced and developed to extend the access and reach to service users 
based within local areas. 

Risk
The maintenance of the provision of high quality drug and alcohol recovery 
services remains a key priority for the Council, but a reduced funding 
allocation could increase the risk of reducing the numbers in recovery 
outcomes. 

Procurement

The drug and Alcohol Recovery Service contract has been procured for 2 years 
(commencing in 2018/19), with a possible extension of a 3rd year into 2020/21. The 
service will be reviewed in September 2019. Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 

Update

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

7th January 2019

Jane Sunter, Public Health Strategic Manager 

Ted Haughey, Executive Director of Operations North East and North 

Yorkshire for Humankind

Appendix 2

P
age 25



Good jobs 
and places 

to live, learn 
and play

Our priorities 2018 - 2020

Every child 
to have the 
best start 

in life

Better 
quality of 

life through 
integrated 
health and 

care 
services

Mental 
Health at 

scale

Healthy 
workforce

High 
quality 

drug and 
alcohol 
services

Promoting 
positive 

behaviours

P
age 26



Public Health Team Review

• Review of Public Health Team

• Lead public health staff linked across the council

• Deputy DPH and leads for social determinants, 

assurance, starting well, living and ageing well

• Close links to PH intelligence team 

P
age 27



Public Health Vision and Strategic Plan

Improve and protect the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce health inequalitiesImprove and protect the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce health inequalitiesVisionVision

Strategic 

Drivers 

Strategic 

Drivers 
• Increase life expectancy and healthy life expectancy

• Reducing differences in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between communities

Strategic 

approach 

• A clear positive narrative 

• Prevention across the lifecourse

• Community led approach including the development of healthy settings

• Partnership working and delivery through others 

• Based on needs and assets, best evidence and evaluation

• Improving population level outcomes

• Meeting our statutory duties

• Short, medium and long term interventions to reduce health inequalities

• Using an approach that aims to address health inequalities and the differences between communities

• Positive, people focused and with a clear sense of purpose. 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
ri

o
ri

ti
e
s
 (

7
 D

P
H

, 
9
 J

S
N

A
) 

Good jobs and placs to live, learn and play

• Develop opportunities for good employment

• Reduce poverty 

• Encourage inclusive growth, employment, education and skills 

• Ensure good homes for everyone 

• Develop a community led approach and help to build connected and resilient communities 

Every Child to Have the Best Start in Life  

• Give our children the best start in life by commissioning high quality 0-5 health visiting services, reducing smoking in pregnancy and childhood obesity, and by improving 

breastfeeding and emotional health & wellbeing

High quality drug and alcohol services

• Reduce the harm from alcohol 

Mental Health at Scale

• Support the County Durham Partnership Prevention at scale – mental health

• Improve mental wellbeing for all ages including suicide prevention and reducing loneliness 

Healthy workforce

• Develop the wider public health workforce via Making Every Contact Count (MECC) including dedicated modules for mental health and cancer

• Implement the Better Health at Work award and a whole-Council approach to staff health and wellbeing

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services

• Reduce the morbidity and improve quality of life for those with long term conditions including cancer, CardioVascular Disease (CVD) and respiratory conditions 

• Support the development of health and social care integration

Promoting positive behaviours

• Work towards a smoke free future for our children and families 

• Promote healthy sexual behaviour, and reduce harm from drugs, alcohol and domestic abuse

• Improve levels of healthy weight and increase levels of physical activity

P
age 28



Our Strategic Approach

• A clear positive narrative 

• Prevention across the lifecourse

• Community led approach including the development of healthy 

settings

• Partnership working and delivery through others 

• Based on needs and assets, best evidence and evaluation

• Improving population level outcomes

• Meeting our statutory duties

• Short, medium and long term interventions to reduce health 

inequalities

• Using an approach that aims to address health inequalities and the 

differences between communities

• Positive, people focused and with a clear sense of purpose. 

P
age 29



Excess     
weight

Learning 
disability

The Taylor family 2018

Alcohol  
misuse

Pregnant

Not in 
education, 

employment 
or training

Poor 
mental 
health

Drug  
misuse

Smoking

In work 
poverty

Sickness 
absence

Excess 
weight

Falls

Loneliness

Carer

Flu

Cold 
home

P
age 30



Healthy 
weight

Inclusion

The Taylor family 2020

Support 
for 

recovery

Healthy 
baby

Applying 
for jobs

Stamp 

It

Out
Drug 
free

Smoke 

free 

home 

£££

Health 
advocate

Physically 
active

Physically 
active

Connected

Supported 
carer

Immunised

Warm 
home

P
age 31



Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 

A new County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery 

Service for adults, young people and family members 

affected by substance misuse was approved for 

procurement by Cabinet in September 2017

Service launched on 1st February 2018.  

The service is delivered by Humankind (formally known 

as DISC) in partnership with Spectrum Community 

Health CIC (for clinical services) and The Basement 

Project. 

P
age 32



Key priorities for the new contract
• Integration – to become more “outward” focused, working in 

partnership with others to achieve a common goal

• Improved pathways - This includes a number of key pathways 

for criminal justice, primary care, mental health and the social 

care provision for children, young people and families.

• Family focus – placing families at the heart of the service 

regardless of their entry point into the system.

• Outreach support – moving away from the expectation that 

clients always come into the service. Staff need to go be more 

mobile in taking services out to clients in there own 

communities.

• Reinvigoration of the  prevention agenda – across a range of 

partners for drugs and alcohol

P
age 33



Families and 

Carers 

Recovery 

interventions 

including 

clinical 

provision

Rehabilitation 

and T4 

provision

Recovery and  

reintegrationPrevention and 

engagement 

Adults Young People

Health including 

GP’s primary 

care, CDDFT, 

Harrogate Trust 

and TEWV

Adults and 

Health Social 

Care 

Children and 

Young 

Peoples 

Social Care 

Criminal Justice including 

Checkpoint, NPS, CRC, VIP, 

Offender Management , 

Prison Estates and YOS

Safeguarding 

and risk 

management 

Self  

Model for County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service 

Training

Harm 

Reduction

P
age 34



Operational facilities

Saddler House Bishop Auckland 
Centre for Change, 

Durham City
Ridgemont House, Peterlee

Outreach facilities

Seaham

Consett

Chester-

le-Street

Stanley

Newton 

Aycliffe

Spennymoor

P
age 35



Community Venues 

• Stanley Health Centre

• Pelton Fell Community 

Centre 

• Salvation Arm, Consett

• JCP Consett

• The Fells at Plawsworth

• Glenroyd House 

• Job Centre – Consett

• Durham University 

• Eden Hill Hospital West Park 

Hospital 

• Murton GP Practice

• Seaham Health Centre 

• Seaham Job centre 

• PCP Newton Aycliffe

• UHND

• Richardson Hospital, 

Barnard Castle 

• Lanchester Road Hospital 

• North Road Methodist 

Church

P
age 36



C&YP Venues and Educational Settings 

• Woodham

• Bishop Auckland 

College 

• Framwellgate School

• Durham Johnson 

School 

• Laurel Avenue 

Children’s Centre

• Parkview School 

• New College Durham

• Durham Federation

• Box Clever 

• North Durham Academy 

• Endeavour EDC

• East Durham College

• Bishop Barrington

• King James 

• South Durham Training

P
age 37



Improved pathways for…

• Criminal Justice – dedicated team working with 

partners including Durham Constabulary, Checkpoint, 

National Probation Service, Community 

Rehabilitation Community (CRC), Courts and prisons 

• Primary care – CCG’s, GP’s primary care teams

• Mental health – TEWV, adults and health social care

• Children, young people and families – C&YP social 

services, including Multio agency safeguarding hub 

and Youth Offending Service, schools, FE Colleges, 

Durham University.

P
age 38



Numbers in treatment (April 2018 – September 2018)taken from 

NDTMS

Indicator Definition
Baseline 

(2017/18)

2018/19 

Target
Apr May Jun Qtr 1 Jul Aug Sep Qtr 2

Direction 

of travel 

from 

baseline

National

Numbers in treatment (direction of travel compared to corresponding period of the previous year)

22 Opiates 1497 1474 1279 1353 �

23 Non-opiates 406 350 210 263 �

24 Alcohol 1101 1096 559 709 �

25 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 367 354 188 247 �

26 Pregnant women 17 Tracker 4 7 �

Numbers in treatment during the 

year to date:

P
age 39



Proportion in treatment who Successfully Complete (April – September 

2018) taken from NDTMS, 2018

Indicator Definition
Baseline 

(2017/18)

2018/19 

Target
Apr May Jun Qtr 1 Jul Aug Sep Qtr 2

Direction 

of travel 

from 

baseline

National

Effective treatment

32 Opiates 91.9% 90.9% 92.6% 92.5% � 94.7%

33 Non-opiates 67.4% 76.0% 70.1% 73.9% � 84.7%

34 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 74.4% 76.6% 73.6% 72.8% � 86.3%

Successful completions as a proportion of all in treatment

35 Opiates 5.5% 6.0% 5.7% 5.8% 5.8% 5.1% 5.1% � 6.2%

36 Non-opiates 28.8% 31.5% 29.6% 30.6% 32.3% 32.9% 34.5% � 38.6%

37 Alcohol 32.6% 28.1% 32.5% 32.5% 31.3% 31.5% 32.1% � 38.6%

38 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 24.5% 27.5% 25.6% 25.5% 26.5% 24.0% 24.2% � 34.0%

Proportion in treatment who 

were retained for 12 weeks or 

more or completed treatment

Number of successful 

completions as a proportion of all 

in treatment

P
age 40



Representation rates (April – September 2018) taken from 

NDTMS, 2018

Public Health Outcomes Framework 2.15: Successful completions of drug / alcohol treatment

39 Opiates 6.4% 6.0% 6.4% 6.0% 6.0% 5.5% 5.2% � 6.3%

40 Non-opiates 30.1% 26.4% 31.2% 30.6% 30.8% 29.2% 27.8% � 36.4%

41 Alcohol 31.9% 28.0% 32.8% 33.6% 33.8% 32.2% 31.7% � 39.0%

Re-presentations

42 Opiates 13.1% ≤24.7% 13.5% 11.8% 9.5% 24.2% 26.5% � 16.5%

43 Non-opiates 7.5% ≤8.4% 6.7% 4.9% 2.6% 3.0% 1.7% � 5.3%

44 Alcohol 9.9% ≤9.4% 7.9% 7.8% 8.2% 8.6% 9.4% � 8.1%

45 Alcohol and Non-Opiates 14.5% ≤8.2% 13.0% 14.3% 14.0% 13.6% 13.3% � 8.1%

Proportion of all in treatment, 

who successfully completed 

treatment and did not re-present 

within 6 months

Proportion who successfully 

completed treatment in the first 6 

months of the latest 12 month 

period and re-presented within 6 

months

P
age 41



Primary drug use Annual target set Successful 

Completions 
achived (YTD)

Opiate 65 63

Non-opiate 89 91

Alcohol and non-
opiate

73 53

Alcohol only 219 239

Successful Completion numbers year to date at end of

November 2018 (Theseus, 2018)

P
age 42



Next steps 

• Review outcome from CGC inspection

• Complete the estates implementation

• Continue with service improvement pathways 

• Annual Service User Questionnaire 

• Review the Health Needs Assessment for 

long term opiate clients and Options 

Appraisals 

• Conduct Health Equity Audit 

• Review service in September 2019 

P
age 43



Any Questions? 

P
age 44



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

7 January 2019

County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Authority Integrated Risk 
Management Plan 2019/20

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report
1 To provide the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee with background information in advance of presentation on 
consultation of County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Authority’s (CDDFRA) Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
2019/20.

Executive summary
2 The IRMP consultation seeks views and comments on three proposals:  

revised crewing arrangements at Bishop Auckland; collaboration 
opportunities; and three options on revised crewing options at Seaham, 
Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor and Durham. 

Recommendation
3 The Committee is asked to consider and provide comment to the 

CDDFRA IRMP consultation. 

Background
4 The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State 

to prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework. The current Fire and 
Rescue National Framework for England, published in July 2012, sets 
out the government’s priorities and expectations for Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRA) in England.

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



5 The National Framework requires FRAs to publish an IRMP, reflecting 
up to date risk information and covering at least a 3-year period. At its 
meeting in January 2018, the Committee considered and responded to 
CDDFRA’s IRMP for the period 2018-2021. 

6 Attached in Appendix 2 is a report from the Chief Fire Officer providing 
information on the consultation process for CDDFRA’s IRMP 
consultation 2018-2019. Appendix 3 to this report contains a copy of the 
IRMP consultation document that includes proposals on crewing 
arrangements at Bishop Auckland, collaboration opportunities and 
revised crewing options at Seaham, Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor and 
Durham. 

7 The Chief Fire Officer will be in attendance to deliver the presentation 
attached in Appendix 4 and respond to questions from the committee on 
the IRMP proposals. 

Main implications
Financial  

8 The IRMP document states that the Fire Service are required to make 
£0.448million of savings in 2019/20.

Consultation 

9 Outcomes from this report and presentation will contribute to the Fire 
Authority’s consultation on its IRMP. 

Conclusion
10 The attached report and presentation provides an opportunity for 

Members to consider and comment on consultation proposals within the 
IRMP. 

Background papers
  None

Other useful documents
 Previous Cabinet reports / None

Contact: Jonathan Slee Tel:  03000 268142

Page 46



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
None.

Finance
The IRMP document states that the Fire Service are required to make 
£0.448million of savings in 2019/20.

Consultation
Outcomes from this report and presentation will contribute to the Fire 
Authority’s consultation on its IRMP.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
None.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

7 JANUARY 2019

INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP) THREE-YEAR PLAN 
CONSULTATION

REPORT OF STUART ERRINGTON, CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide the Safer Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 
background to the Fire Authority’s IRMP annual action plan. The Committee will be 
provided with a presentation setting out details of the plan and consultation process.

Background

2. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to prepare a 
Fire and Rescue National Framework. The current Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England, published in July 2012, sets out the government’s priorities 
and expectations for Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRA) in England. 

3. Key priorities in the National Framework include the need to:

 identify and assess all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could 
affect its community; 

 demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will be 
used to mitigate those risks; 

 reflect effective consultation with the community, its staff and partners 
work in partnership with their communities and a wide range of partners 
locally and nationally to deliver the service;

 To be accountable to communities for the services provided. 

4. The National Framework requires FRAs to publish an IRMP, reflecting up to date 
risk information and covering at least a 3-year period. County Durham and 
Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (CDDFRA) publish a 3-year plan and an 
annual action plan. As the current three-year IRMP runs until 2021 they are 
currently consulting on an annual action plan. 

Appendix 2

Page 49



5. The action plan consultation document, agreed by the Authority in October 2018, is 
attached (Appendix 3) and sets out the current performance position of the Service 
along with the financial picture and, last year’s consultation results.  

6. The last section of the action plan sets out the suggested question set for the 
consultation.  The question set consists of three specific question consulting on:

 revised crewing arrangements at Bishop Auckland;  
 collaboration opportunities; and 
 three options on revised crewing options at Seaham, Newton Aycliffe, 

Spennymoor and Durham.

Consultation Approach

7. For the results of the consultation exercise to be as representative as possible, the 
data collection methodology has been expanded in order to encourage more 
responses.

8. The following methodologies have been applied: 

 Face to face briefings;
 Open nights at the stations where there are planned changes;  
 Writing directly to key stakeholders; 
 Online and paper-based surveys;
 Presentations.

9. The intention is to engage with a wide range of stakeholders, including:

 Our staff;
 Representative bodies;
 The public;
 Our partner agencies;
 Members of parliament; Local councillors;
 Parish councils;
 Residents associations;
 Area Action Partnerships;
 Community groups;
 Neighbouring fire and rescue services.

10. Appropriate announcements were made when consultation commenced via a media 
release and appropriate posts to the Service’s social media feeds and website. Key 
partners such as the County Council and Durham Constabulary have also 
publicised the consultation exercise. 

11. The consultation was carried out from 12th November 2018 and runs until 04th 
February 2019.  The outcomes of the consultation will be reported to the Authority 
on 22nd February 2019.

Page 50



Recommendations

12. Members are requested to 

(i) Consider and note the content of the IRMP action plan and consultation 
which will be presented at the meeting.

Contact: Jayne Collins, Communications Team Leader
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority  

Tel: 0191 3755600 E-mail: jcollins@ddfire.gov.uk 

Page 51



Implications:

Finance – The IRMP document states that the Fire Service are required to make 
£0.448million of savings in 2019/20.

Staffing – None 

Risk - None

Equality and Diversity /  Public Sector Equality Duty – None 

Accommodation - None

Crime and Disorder – None 

Human Rights – None 

Consultation – Outcomes from this report and presentation will raise Members 
awareness of the Fire Authority’s consultation on its Integrated Risk Management Plan 
Action Plan.

Procurement – None

Disability Issues – None 

Legal Implications – None 

Page 52



Safest People, Safest Places

Integrated risk management 
plan consultation 2018-2019

Page 53

Martin.Tindle
Typewritten text
Appendix 3



Having the safest people and safest 
places is at the heart of everything 
we do as a fire and rescue service 
and will be the golden thread 
running through every emergency 
call we take, every incident we 
attend and every home or business 
we make safer.

The tragedy that unfolded at 
Grenfell Tower last year served as 
a poignant reminder of the critical 
role we play in protecting our 
communities and has only made us 
more determined and passionate 
than ever to do the job we do and 
to do it well. 

The last few years has seen some 
of the most significant cuts to public 
spending ever known.  This means 
to continue offering a first-class fire 
and rescue service to the people 
living, working and visiting County 
Durham and Darlington we must be 
innovative and do things differently. 

This document outlines some 
options we are considering to 
ensure you continue to receive a 
first class, cost effective fire and 
rescue service going forward.

Introduction

Safest People, Safest Places

01

John Robinson
Chair of The Fire Authority

Stuart Errington
Chief Fire Officer

Page 54



02

The number of calls we 
received last year has 

decreased by

2% 
- from 17,171 to 16,760.

We attended 71 non 
domestic building fires last 

year. That’s a

reduction from                
the previous year.

Last year we responded 
to 326 road traffic 
collisions. That’s a 

0.6%  
rise from last year, where 

we attended 324.

Accidental house 
fires are up from 

211 to 251, a 

19% 
increase from the 

previous year.

There were 0 deaths 
in house fires in 2017/2018 
with numbers remaining 

low and fluctuating 
between zero and five in 

recent years.

Total injuries 
from accidental 
house fires are 

down from 24 to 
20, a  

17%
 reduction from 

last year.

Our performance 

 31%

Page 55



Our finances

Medium term financial plan 2018/19 - 2021/22

At a time when we, along with other public-sector organisations, face an uncertain future, 
it is essential that we have an effective medium-term financial plan (MTFP) in place. This 
means we can work towards balancing the budget over the medium term, taking account 
of our expenditure and of future central and local funding. 
Our MTFP for 2018/19 to 2021/22 is set out in the table below. It has been calculated 
based on the assumption that council tax will increase by 2.95% in 2019/20 and 2.0% in 
2021/21 and 2021/22. 
The money we receive from government continues to decline and as a result we have a 
significant shortfall in funding from 2019/20 onwards.
In order to balance the budget we need to identify £0.448 million of savings in 2019/20 
rising to £0.735 million in 2021/22. We have undertaken a full review of emergency 
response to identify further savings options and would welcome your views on our 
proposals. 

2018/19
£m

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

Net Expenditure 
(This is the money we have to spend) 28.507 29.010 29.632 30.230

W
he

re
 o

ur
 fu

nd
in

g 
co

m
es

 fr
om

Total government funding 9.591 9.295 9.125 9.125

Local business rates 1.374 1.408 1.408 1.408

Council tax 17.170 17.859 18.402 18.962

Surplus on collection fund 0.372 - - -

Total funding 28.507 28.562 28.935 29.495

Shortfall in funding - -0.448 -0.697 -0.735

Safest People, Safest Places

03Page 56



04

of people were 
satisfied or very 

satisfied with the 
service provided 

by County Durham 
and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service 

(CDDFRS)

of 
people 

were 
satisfied 

or very satisfied that 
CDDFRS are dealing with 

issues that matter to them

of people living in 
County Durham 
and Darlington 
feel safe or very 

safe 

of people feel well 
informed of the work 

CDDFRS is doing

of people are 
satisfied or very 

satisfied with the 
Safer County Durham 

and Darlington plan

Overall  89% of 
people’s perception 

of CDDFRS was

Last year’s consultation results
Last year we asked you to tell us how well we were doing. 969 people across County Durham 
and Darlington responded to our survey, this is what you told us:

86%

82%

88%

CDDFRS review ALL feedback, good and bad to ensure we can
 make the necessary changes to enable us to continuously improve.

71%

72%

GOOD or 
VERY GOOD

Page 57



05

A map of our service area

7

8

1

12

14

13

Page 58



06

9

6

2
3

45

10

11

15

Our fire stations: 
1. Consett
2. High Handenhold
3. Seaham 
4. Peterlee
5. Wheatley Hill
6. Durham
7. Stanhope
8. Crook
9. Spennymoor
10. Sedgefield
11. Newton Aycliffe
12. Bishop Auckland
13. Middleton-In-Teesdale
14. Barnard Castle
15. Darlington

Safest People, Safest Places

Page 59



07

Bishop Auckland crewing arrangements
Following a review of emergency response provision in 2017 a trial has been taking 
place where six whole time firefighters are on duty at Bishop Auckland fire station.
The trial is for the fire engine to ride with four wholetime firefighters and the 
Special Rescue Unit (SRU) to ride with two rather than utilise the station’s on call 
firefighters. This would ensure both the fire engine and the SRU are immediately 
available to respond to incidents and also means our swift water rescue capability, 
also based at Bishop Auckland, can be immediately deployed as it needs a team of 
six firefighters.

Based on the information above, if the trial is deemed successful, should we 
continue with this staffing arrangement permanently?

+

Safest People, Safest Places

YES
OR

NO

Page 60



08

CDDFRS have a statutory duty, under 
the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (the 
Act), to collaborate with other emergency 
services where it would be in the interests 
of efficiency or effectiveness or where it 
could increase public safety. The Act is 
focused on collaboration between Police 
and Fire services, however, at times, greater 
collaborative opportunities exist between 
two or more fire and rescue services or other 
agencies.
Enhancing collaboration has been one of 
our strategic objectives since 2011 and we 
have entered into a range of successful 
partnerships in areas such as: shared 
estates; shared operational resources; 
shared community engagement; and tri-
service responders in rural areas.    
We also have a good relationship with 
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service 
(TWFRS) and Northumberland Fire 

YES
OR

and Rescue Service (NFRS) and a real 
willingness to work together. Successful 
collaboration in recruitment; promotion 
processes; mental health support; and 
health and fitness have shown the tangible 
benefits that can be achieved when the 
three organisations work together. 

The Future
There are other collaboration opportunities 
which could deliver greater benefits. It is 
proposed that these areas are explored in 
some detail to understand if they align with 
the following principles: 

Deliver better value for money  
Deliver improved outcomes 
Help reduce demand and/ or risk 

It is our intention to examine a wide range 
of potential opportunities against these 
principles and take forward those that can 
deliver real benefits.

Based on the information provided above, do you support our intention to explore 
further collaboration opportunities with TWFRS and NFRS to improve efficiency, 
effectiveness or increase public safety?

Collaboration opportunities

NO

Page 61



09

SEAHAM 

SEAHAM 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE

NEWTON 
AYCLIFFE

+

Both stations staffed 12 hours during the day.
Both stations staffed with 
on call firefighters at night

Peterlee’s second 
fire engine at night

Durham’s second 
fire engine at night

Option 1

A legal ruling involving South Yorkshire 
Fire and Rescue Service means we 
need to make changes to one of our shift 
systems. We have recently carried out a 
comprehensive review of our emergency 
response provision across the entire 
service to ensure we have the right level 
of resources, in the right place, at the right 
times, to keep you safe and make sure we 
are offering the most efficient and effective 
service possible. 
As a result, we are looking at three options 
and we would like you to tell us which 
option you prefer considering the pros and 
cons of each option.
Seaham & Newton Aycliffe
Seaham and Newton Aycliffe currently have 
firefighters who work a 12-hour day shift 

from 7am – 7pm every day.  
Outside of these times, when they are on 
duty, the firefighters spend their rest time at 
special accommodation blocks on station, 
so they can respond immediately should you 
need them.  
Spennymoor
In Spennymoor firefighters are on duty from 
8am – 5pm every weekday.  Outside of 
these times on call firefighters are called into 
work within 5 minutes of being alerted to the 
incident.  
Durham
Durham station is crewed 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week and has three fire 
engines. Durham has the most resources of 
all our stations but is only the third busiest 
station in our service. 

Option 1
Have firefighters on duty at Seaham and Newton Aycliffe for 12 hours during the day. At 
night time only the existing on call firefighters will be called into work within 5 minutes of 
being alerted to the incident. 

Revised crewing options

Option 2
Have firefighters on duty at Seaham and Newton Aycliffe as described in option 1. In 
addition, to cover 12 hours over night, move the second fire engine and crew from Durham 
to Newton Aycliffe and the second fire engine and crew from Peterlee to Seaham, this will 
maintain staffing that can respond immediately at these stations.

Page 62



10

SPENNYMOOR

+
Making Spennymoor a
24 hour crewed station

24

Durham’s second fire
 engine moves permanently

Option 3

Option 1

Safest People, Safest Places

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

Are our firefighters 
geographically 
stationed in the best 
possible place to 
respond to incidents 
across the service?   

Looking at demand 
and risk data, are our 
resources allocated to 
where they would be 
most effective?

Will the number of fire 
engines stay the same 
or increase?

Does this option create 
annual efficiency 
savings?

Will the service’s 
overall response 
standards improve?

£350K

Have firefighters on duty at Seaham and Newton Aycliffe as described in option 1. In addition, 
move Durham’s second fire engine and crew permanently to Spennymoor to replace the 
current arrangements. This means they would be there to offer an immediate response 24 
hours a day, seven days a week. Both Durham and Spennymoor would then have identical 
resources when responding to incidents. This is CDDFRS’s preferred option.

24

£50K £450K

For more information on all three options please visit: 
www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans

Page 63



Tell us what you think...

Revised crewing options

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

Collaboration opportunities

YES NO

Do you support our intention to explore further collaboration opportunities with TWFRS and 
NFRS to improve efficiency, effectiveness or increase public safety? (Please tick)

Bishop Auckland crewing arrangements

YES NO

If the trial currently being undertaken at Bishop Auckland fire station is deemed successful, 
should we continue with this staffing arrangement permanently? (Please tick)

We must make changes to crewing at some of our stations, please tick your preferred option 
below or alternatively please tell us in the free text box your ideas. 

Safest People, Safest Places

Use our online questionnaire:
www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/IRMP201819/

Or alternatively complete the response sheet below and return to: 
FAO Communications, CDDFRS HQ, Blemont Industrial Estate, Durham, DH1 1TW

Consultation response sheet

Page 64



Integrated Risk Management Plan
(IRMP) Consultation 2019/20

Safer Stronger OSC
07 January 2019

CFO Stuart Errington

P
age 65

Martin.Tindle_1
Typewritten text
Appendix 4



Government funding (revenue budget)
Year £Million %

2011/12 -1.380 -9.5%

2012/13 -0.297 -2.3%

2013/14 -0.953 -7.4%

2014/15 -1.102 -7.0%

2015/16 -1.285 -8.8%

2016/17 -0.943 -7.05%

2017/18 -1.156 -9.30%

2018/19 -0.490 -4.39%

2019/20 -0.200 -1.87%

Total -7.806 57.61%

P
age 66



Current Medium Term Financial
Plan

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£m £m £m £m

Net Expenditure 28.507 29.010 29.632 30.230

Total Government Funding 9.591 9.295 9.125 9.125
Local Business Rates 1.374 1.408 1.408 1.408
Council Tax 17.170 17.859 18.402 18.962
Surplus on Collection Fund 0.372 0 0 0
Total Funding 28.507 28.562 28.935 29.495

Shortfall 0 -0.448 -0.697 -0.735

P
age 67



Emergency Response

P
age 68



CDDFRS Shift Systems
• WholeTime (WT)

• Work on Station
• 4 shift systems / 24/7 / 365
• Respond from station to incident

• RDS  / On Call
• Live / Work <5mins of fire station
• Use an Alerter / Pager
1. Respond to station
2. Respond to incident

• Day Crewing (DC)
• 12 Hour Day (WT)
• 12 Hour Night (RDS)

• Day Crewing Plus (DC+)
• 12 Hour Day (WT)
• 12 Hour Night (On Call)
• Accommodation on site
• 26% pensionable allowance

P
age 69



CDDFRS Response Standards

P
age 70



Emergency Response Review
1. Demand data

• All Incidents / Life risk / EMR
• High demand times

2. Physical risk
• Dwellings – location / density
• Population – demographics
• National Index of Deprivation
• Non Domestic Properties
• Operational Risk Info /

Heritage
• National RR / Community

RR
• High Risk Wards
• High Risk People

3. Finance
• ER staff wages
• Cost per incident
• Efficiency / Productivity

P
age 71



FBU vs SYFRA / SYFRS
• Close Proximity Crewing
• Introduced 2011
• Local dispute
• Escalation
• Mediation
• High Court Case 2018

• National Impact

P
age 72



ER Review - Without DC+

P
age 73



Service Profile - 3 years
Station Area ADF RTC Primary Fires

Ex ADF
Secondary

Fires False Alarms Other Incident
Types** Total** 3 Yr Average Staffing

Darlington 142 152 295 1058 1443 467 3557 1186 2 WT
Peterlee 62 100 534 1479 752 257 3184 1061 2 WT
Durham 98 122 228 597 972 338 2355 785 2 WT / 1 RDS
High Handenhold 77 102 173 872 613 222 2059 686 1 WT / 1 RDS
Bishop Auckland 66 86 201 703 594 249 1899 633 1 WT / 1 RDS
Consett 54 109 179 571 590 270 1773 591 1 WT / 1 RDS
Newton Aycliffe 37 70 120 373 325 147 1072 357 DC+ / RDS
Seaham 35 37 88 394 346 157 1057 352 DC+ / RDS
Spennymoor 40 59 122 275 392 133 1021 340 DC / RDS
Wheatley Hill 18 24 175 317 169 43 746 249 1 RDS
Crook 25 37 71 211 204 98 646 215 2 RDS
Barnard Castle 9 38 39 25 157 84 352 117 2 RDS
Sedgefield 6 30 34 41 96 36 243 81 1 RDS
Stanhope 12 17 13 18 67 75 202 67 1 RDS
Middleton-in-Tees 1 6 6 6 19 43 81 27 1 RDS

R
e
s
o
u
r
c
e
s

P
age 74



ER Review 2019/20

IRMP Consultation Options

P
age 75



ER Review options
1. Change DC+ to WT or Equivalent

2. Change DC+ to DC only

3. Look at a wider Service solution

P
age 76



Option 1 – DC+ to WT / Equivalent
DC+ to Wholetime

• Maintains Station Response Standards
• Maintains Service Response Standards
• No reduction of fire appliances
• Increase staffing required

• 13 (DC+) to 24 (WT)

• £600k per year – MTFP deficit
• Does not match station Risk profiles
• Does not match station Demand profiles

Move 2nd appliances to cover night time

• Maintains Station Response standards
• Peterlee 2nd to Seaham
• Durham 2nd to Newton Aycliffe

• No savings / impact on MTFP deficit
• Does not match Risk / Demand profiles
• Increases Service Response standards
• Reduces number of fire appliances

P
age 77



Option 1 – DC+ to WT / Equivalent

DC+ to Wholetime Moving Peterlee / Durham 2nds

P
age 78



Option 2 – Change DC+ to DC only
• 12 Hour Day – DC / RDS
• 12 Hour Night – RDS only

• Newton Aycliffe
• 13 DC+ staff - 12 DC Staff

• Seaham
• 13 DC+ staff - 12 DC Staff

• £350k saving

P
age 79



Option 2 – Change DC+ to DC only
• Allocates resources to Risk
• Matches Demand profiles

09:00 – 21:00;
• Seaham          Newton Aycliffe

• 83% ADF        81% ADF
• 80% RTC*      76% RTC
• 82% NDP       62% NDP

• Increases Response
Standards in Station areas
and Service area

• Reduction of fire appliances
• Impact on staff

• DC+
• Wider staff

P
age 80



Option 2 - Response Standards
Seaham / Newton Aycliffe

Service Area Station Areas

P
age 81



Option 3 – Service Wide Approach
• Seaham - DC
• Newton Aycliffe – DC
• Spennymoor – WT

• Move an Appliance from Durham
• 44 Durham  + 7 Spennymoor

to
• 24 Durham + 24 Spennymoor

£450k Saving

• Allocates resources to Service Risk
• Matches Demand profile for DC stations
• Better geographical placement of

resources
• Improves 4 Individual Station RS
• Improves Spennymoor’s RS
• Improves overall Service RS

• Increases 1:3 RS within Newton Aycliffe
• Increases 2:3 RS within Seaham
• Reduction of fire appliances

• 1 during day / 3 during night
• Impact on staff

P
age 82



Option 3 – Service Response Standards
• Seaham - DC
• Newton Aycliffe – DC
• Spennymoor – WT

P
age 83



Spennymoor - WT
• 8 Minute isochrone
• Brandon (Durham)

• Most ADF in 3 years
• High Risk ward area

• Student Accommodation
• Chilton (Newton Aycliffe)

• Recent ADF Fatality
• High Risk ward area

• Bishop Auckland
• Back up for 4:2 trial

P
age 84



Seaham DC
Newton Aycliffe DC

Seaham DC
Newton Aycliffe DC
Spennymoor DC

Moving Peterlee
& Durham’s  2nd

Appliances

Seaham DC
Newton Aycliffe DC
Spennymoor WT

Seaham WT
Newton Aycliffe WT

£600k £450k £110k £50k £350k

Options – Response Standards with
Costs / Savings

P
age 85



Summary
• Genuine Consultation
• Difficult Decisions

• Data led
• Professional Opinion

• Ongoing work with;
• Staff – mitigating options
• FBU – implementation agreement

• Time limited
• Risk To Fire Authority >April 2019

P
age 86



Thank you.

Any Questions?

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

7 January 2019

County Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) – 

Youth Justice Plan 2018/19 

Report of Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1 This report presents the annual refresh (2018/19) of the Youth Justice 

Plan 2017/19 for information and highlights some of the key 
achievements in reducing re-offending during 2017/18 and provides the 
areas for improvement, which the service will be focussed upon during 
the next period, as set out in the Service Improvement Plan (Appendix 4 
of the Youth Justice Plan).

Executive summary
Youth Justice Plan 2017/19 (Refresh – 2018/19)

2. A copy of the refreshed Youth Justice Plan is attached (Appendix 2) for 
information.

3. The Plan outlines how CDYOS will:
 Reduce First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System;
 Reduce re-offending by young people;
 Reduce the use of custody for both sentenced and remanded 

young people.

By:
 Improving how we communicate with young people and the 

interventions we complete with them;
 Putting victims, including young victims, and restorative justice at 

the heart of everything we do;
 Reducing re-offending by targeting our resources on those young 

people committing the most offences and improving their 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



engagement in opportunities for education, employment and 
training;

 Ensuring we have robust quality assurance and staff 
management processes in place and a skilled management team 
to manage those processes;

 Ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and their 
families are telling us;

 Ensuring volunteering, by both adults and young people, is a key 
component of the work we undertake with young people and 
victims;

 Ensuring that case management systems and administration 
support provide the highest quality support to staff and managers 
in the delivery of services to courts, communities and young 
people.

4 A new Inspection Framework for Youth Offending Services has recently 
been published (March 2018) which sets clear standards expected of 
Youth Offending Teams (YOT) which ensures the provision of a high 
quality, personalised and responsive service for all children and young 
people.  Whilst there are many aspects of good performance contained 
within the current plan, the service is not complacent and has assessed 
the quality of its provision against the new inspection standards. The 
outcome of this work will inform the production of a new Youth Justice 
Plan for the period 2019 – 2021. 

Recommendation(s)
5 Safer & Stronger Overview and Scrutiny Committee are requested to:

(i) Note the contents of this report 
(ii) Receive the refreshed Youth Justice Plan 2017/19, updated to cover 

the period 2017/18.

Background
6. Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory partnerships, established 

under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of 
preventing offending by children and young people. Local Authorities 
are responsible for establishing a Youth Offending Team.   Police, 
National Probation Service (NPS) and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) are statutorily required to assist in their funding and operation.

7. Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty to submit an annual 
youth justice plan relating to their provision of youth justice services. 
Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth 
offending partnership’s responsibilities in producing this plan. It states 
that it is the duty of each local authority, after consultation with the 

Page 90



partner agencies, to formulate and implement an annual youth justice 
plan, setting out:

 How youth justice services in their area are to be provided and 
          funded;
 How the YOS will be composed and funded, how it will operate, 

and what functions it will carry out.

8. The YJB welcomes plans that cover more than one year with the 
proviso that an annual refresh will be submitted which provides an 
update of key information, particularly in relation to finance and 
governance.  

9. Last year, 2017, the Council approved and submitted its YJ Plan 
covering the two year period 2017/18 and 2018/19.  This current plan is 
a ‘refresh’ and provides an update covering the period 2017/18 for 
performance data and the period 2018/19 for service budgets, 
operational and strategic developments within the service and 
partnership, service structure and the Service Improvement Plan. 

10 In accordance with statutory requirements the plan was approved by 
CDYOS Management Board on 14 May 2018.

11 The refreshed Youth Justice Plan must be submitted to the Youth 
Justice Board for England and Wales (YJB) and published in 
accordance with the directions of the Secretary of State.  The deadline 
for submission was the end of July 2018. After submission to the YJB, 
Youth Justice Plans are sent to Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP - lead for YOS inspections) and are placed in the House of 
Commons library for Ministers.

Key Achievements 2017/18
12. Despite increasing crime across the County, we are not seeing this 

reflected in the youth crime figures.  This performance has been arrived 
at through strong partnership working.

13 Four key achievements have been identified and are outlined in the 
Executive Summary of the Plan.  These are:-

(a) Performance against National Outcome Measures 2017/18

(i) First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System (FTEs): 

 Between October 2016 and September 2017 the rate of 
FTE per 100,000 10-17 population in County Durham at 

Page 91



324 is higher than the national rate of 304 but is lower than 
the North East Regional rate which is 394.  

 The latest available locally sourced data shows 119 young 
people entering the Youth Justice System between April 
2017 and March 2018 at a rate of 277.  This is the lowest 
rate ever achieved.

 
(ii) Re-offending

 Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2015 – March 2016 
cohort) shows a re-offending rate of 46.4% which is a 7.6% 
reduction compared to the previous year.  This is higher 
than the England rate which is 42.2% but below the North 
East rate which is 50%.

(iii) Use of Custody
(a) Custodial Sentences: 
 The CDYOS performance is on par with the England and 

North East Region at a rate per 1,000 10-17 population of 
0.4.    The most up to date locally sourced information (April 
2017-March 2018) shows 15 custodial sentences which is a 
reduction in the rate to 0.35.  

(b)Remand Bed Nights: 419
 This is a 33.4% reduction on the previous year.

(b)Co-Commissioned Health Model:
(i) The work carried out with Public Health to understand the 

health needs of young people who offend has led to the 
implementation of a co-commissioned multi-skilled Health 
Team based in CDYOS comprising School Nurse, Clinical 
Psychologist, Speech Language Therapists, Substance 
Misuse Specialists, Liaison & Diversion Specialists and 
Mental Health Specialists.  This team ensures the often 
complex health needs of young people who offend are 
effectively assessed and responded to so that they are 
supported to achieve good health outcomes.

(c) Work With Victims, including Young Victims:

(i) Our work with the victims of youth crime has engaged 192 
victims in restorative approaches.  In particular, our work 
with young people who are the victims of crime has 
provided dedicated support and an opportunity to re-build 
and restore confidence.  Young people who offend have 
also engaged in 4,000 hours of unpaid work in and across 
communities in County Durham as a means of reparation.

Page 92



(d)Supporting Young People’s Education and Progression:

(i) The Service has continued to prioritise the development of 
resources and interventions to meet young people’s 
speech, language and communication needs. This has 
supported young people in engaging actively with their 
learning and their active participation in CDYOS 
programmes of intervention. The service has implemented 
the Skill Mill, a Community Interest Company which 
provides employment and training for young people under 
the supervision of CDYOS.  Two cohorts of 4 young people 
completed their 6 months contract with Skill Mill.  Only 1 
young person committed further offences and 6 progressed 
into further, long term, employment. 

Conclusion 

14. This report presents the Youth Justice Plan refresh for 2018/19 for the 
information of this committee. The plan has been approved by CDYOS 
Management Board, DCC Cabinet and full Council. Whilst this report 
highlights good and improving performance, it is anticipated that further, more 
up-to-date, performance information will be available for the meeting on 7 
January 2019. The Safer & Stronger Communities Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee is recommended to note the contents of this report, receive the 
refreshed Youth Justice Plan and receive more up-to-date performance 
information at the meeting on 7 January 2019.

Background papers
 Youth Justice Plan 2017-2019, Refresh 2018/19

Contact: Dave Summers Tel:  03000 265999

Page 93



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
The Youth Justice Plan ensures Durham County Council and statutory partners meet 
their legal implications to the partnership. Statutory requirements placed on the YOS 
and the Management Board include: Complying with the statutory requirements laid 
out in s.38 to 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and other relevant sections of 
the Act; Complying with National Standards (NS) for Youth Justice (including returning 
the annual National Standards audit); Submitting required data to the YJB in 
adherence with the relevant YJB data recording guidance; Approving the annual Youth 
Justice Plan.

Finance
The Youth Justice Plan contains CDYOS partnership pooled budget and staff 
secondment arrangements for 2018/19.  CDYOS budget comprises partnership 
funding, YJB funding and specific grant funding.  The budget allocation is reviewed 
annually by CDYOS Management Board and all partners (Police, Probation, Health 
(CCGs) and Local Authority) agree funding contributions for the following year. Under 
the terms of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998; DCC, Durham Constabulary, National 
Probation Service and CCGs are required to both contribute staff and provide funding 
for a pooled budget for operating costs. The total budget for CDYOS for 2018/19 is 
£3,007,784 (including the cost of staff seconded to CDYOS from partners).4

Consultation
CDYOS Management Board and partners have been consulted.  There is no 
requirement for public consultation.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken in February 2018 as part of the 
preparations for the restructure of CDYOS. This ensured that development of the new 
structure and the development of that structure for CDYOS met all requirements and 
was conducted in a way that ensured equality and considered diversity. In addition, 
CDYOS is committed to meeting the needs of the young people, families and victims 
with whom we work. All staff have undertaken specialist diversity training for youth 
offending, SLCN training and, in addition, case managers have undertaken specialist 
diversity training for assessments. Diversity issues are a specific category on the 
checklist used by managers to countersign assessments and intervention plans.

Human Rights
Not applicable

Page 94



Crime and Disorder
The statutory function of CDYOS partnership is the prevention of offending by children 
and young people (Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  The Youth Justice Plan provides 
detail on how the partnership will undertake those functions. See paragraph 12, above, 
for details of how this will achieved.

Staffing
Staff establishment is included in the plan, in line with YJB requirements.

Accommodation
All managers and staff in CDYOS have been based at DCC, Crook from 26.4.18. The 
service will also use a satellite base, for meetings, interviews, for example, at Belmont 
until that lease expires in March 2019.

Risk
Risks to future delivery have been considered and are included in the plan.

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Youth Offending Service

Youth Justice Plan
 2017 to 2019

Annual Refresh 2018

Appendix 2

Page 97



County Durham Youth Offending Service

2

It is my pleasure to present County Durham Youth Offending Service Youth Justice Plan 2018/19.  This 
statutory plan reviews the work of the service over the last year and sets out priorities for the next 12 
months. It is a refresh of our plan for the period 2017 – 2019.

County Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) continues to achieve some remarkable outcomes.  
Since 2007/08, the number of young people entering the criminal justice system has reduced by an 
impressive 89.4% as a result of effective joint work between the service and the Police.  We know that 
for most young people this will be their only involvement in the youth justice system and that they will not 
be in trouble again.

Since 2010/11 the number of young people committing offences has reduced by 69.2%, and the number 
of offences has reduced by 56.6%. The number of young people re-offending and the number of 
offences they commit have also reduced. Most of those offences had a victim, so that means there are 
many fewer victims too. That’s great news for our community as a whole.

Many other achievements are set out in the plan, including the success of Restorative Justice; speech, 
language and communication work; and community reparation. CDYOS continues to be acknowledged 
nationally having received a number of awards for its innovation.  CDYOS’ work over the last 12 months 
to improve its response to the health needs of young people who offend has led to the development of a 
co-commissioned model of health provision creating a multi-skilled health team made up of School 
Nurse, Consultant Psychologist, Speech Language Therapists, Substance Misuse specialists, Liaison 
and Diversion staff and Emotional Wellbeing specialists.

These achievements would not be possible without the full and active engagement of a wide range of 
partners, committed to working together to meet the needs of challenged and challenging young people.   
I would like to thank the partners who make up the Youth Offending Service partnership for their 
continued commitment of time, expertise and resources.

I would also like to thank the staff of the service for their hard work and endeavour to support young 
people who have many complex needs and challenges, and who do so with enthusiasm and 
professionalism.

All public services are facing challenges from reduced funding, and CDYOS is no different.  However, 
the service has set out realistic priorities for the future, building on the firm foundations of strong 
partnership working it has developed.  This plan gives the full flavour of what has been achieved and 
what the next steps are. 

I am confident that by continuing to work together, we can continue to achieve great things.

Alan Reiss,
Chief of Staff, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner
On behalf of CDYOS Management Board

Foreword 

Page 98



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

3

Contents

Executive Summary 4

Introduction 7

Structures and Governance 9

Resources and Value for Money 11

Partnership Arrangements 15

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures 18

Appendix 1:  Approval of Strategic Plan                                                             21

Appendix 2:  Review of Performance Against the Key Indicators 22

Appendix 3: CDYOS Budget 2018/19 24

Appendix 4: Service Improvement Plan 2018/19 25

Appendix 5: Service Structure 2018/19 26

Appendix 6: CDYOS Statutory Functions 27

Appendix 7: Glossary 28

Appendix 8: Contact Details 30

Page 99



County Durham Youth Offending Service

4

Executive Summary

The Youth Justice Plan 2018/19 highlights work 
done to date, and key achievements and 
outcomes for 2017/18. It outlines key priorities, 
budget, staffing, service developments and the 
service improvement plan for 2018/19.

‘County Durham YOS has a good reputation 
and performs to a high standard. The 
service is proud of its creative and 
innovative approach to service delivery and 
has won a number of awards, in particular 
for work around restorative practices. It was 
apparent that staff and managers alike are 
widely respected, skilled and experienced in 
understanding, and working with, some of 
the hardest to reach young people in the 
county.’  (Peer Review)

Our Key Achievements:

1. National Outcome Measures 2017/18

First Time Entrants to the Youth 
Justice System (FTEs): 
Between October 2016 and September 
2017 the rate of FTE per 100,000 
population in County Durham at 324 is 
higher than nationally which is 304. The 
County Durham rate is lower than the 
North East at 394.  

The latest available locally sourced data 
shows 119 young people entering the 
Youth Justice System between April 2017 
and March 2018 at a rate of 277.  This is 
the lowest ever rate achieved.

Re-offending
Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2015 
– March 2016 cohort) shows a re-
offending rate of 46.4% which is a 7.6% 
reduction compared to the previous year.  
This is higher than England rate which is 
42.2% but below the North East rate 
which is 50%.

Use of Custody
Custodial Sentences: 
The CDYOS performance is on par with 
the England and North East region at a 
rate per 1,000 10-17 population of 0.4.    
The most up to date locally sourced 
information (April 2017-March 2018) 
shows 15 custodial sentences which is a 
reduction in the rate to 0.35.  

Remand Bed Nights: 419
This is a 33.4% reduction on the previous 
year.

Appendix 2 provides detailed charts which 
illustrate the above information.

2. Co-Commissioned Health Model:
The work carried out with Public Health to 
understand the health needs of young 
people who offend has led to the 
implementation of a co-commissioned multi-
skilled Health Team based in CDYOS 
comprising School Nurse, Clinical 
Psychologist, Speech Language Therapists, 
Substance Misuse Specialists, Liaison & 
Diversion Specialists and Mental Health 
Specialists.  This team ensures the often 
complex health needs of young people who 
offend are effectively assessed and 
responded to so that they are supported to 
achieve good health outcomes.

3. Work With Victims, including Young 
Victims:
Our work with the victims of youth crime has 
engaged 192 victims in restorative 
approaches.  In particular, our work with 
young people who are the victims of youth 
crime has provided dedicated support and 
an opportunity to re-build and restore 
confidence.  Young people who offend have 
also engaged in 4,000 hours of unpaid work 
in and across communities in County 
Durham as a means of reparation.

4. Supporting Young People’s Education 
and Progression:
The Service has continued to prioritise the 
development of resources and interventions to 
meet young people’s speech, language and 
communication needs. This has supported 
young people in engaging actively with their 
learning in respect of desistance and their 
active participation in CDYOS programmes of 
intervention. The implementation of the Skill 
Mill, a Community Interest Company, providing 
employment and training for young people 
under the supervision of CDYOS supported 4 
young people none of whom have committed 
further offences. Three have progressed into 
further, long term, employment.  Feedback from 
the young people tells us that they value the 
opportunity to learn new skills and gain 
valuable experience in the world of work.

Page 100



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

5

 

The work carried out during 2017/18 which 
has supported our Key Achievements has 
been:-

Reducing First Time Entrants (FTEs)
 Ensured we delivered a ‘scaled approach’ to 

young people subject to out of court disposals 
(OOCD);

 Introduced Asset Plus as our assessment of 
young people and families in out-of-court 
disposals

 Reviewed and developed our process for 
identifying families under the Stronger 
Families programme;

 Expanded, developed and improved our range 
of intervention programmes delivered by the 
Delivery Team;

 Embedded the out of court quality assurance 
process;

 Improved the quality of assessments of young 
people and families.

 Developed and implemented an Out-of-Court 
Improvement plan based on the 
recommendations of the Thematic Inspection 
conducted by HMIP in 2017.

Reducing Re-offending
 Focussed on ensuring vulnerable children 

and young people are identified as part of 
the Stronger Families programme and 
worked with a range of partners to achieve 
improved outcomes for them;

 Continued to work with colleagues in 
residential homes to reduce offending by 
Looked After Children (LAC);

 Identified a cohort of young people who are 
persistent offenders (6 or more offences in 
previous 12 months) and provided them with 
an enhanced intervention programme;

 Embedded the Re-offending Panel into 
practice;

 Continued to improve our work to meet  young 
people’s speech, language and 
communication needs;

 Improved staff’s confidence in working with 
young people’s emotional and mental health 
needs through training and mentoring;

 Implemented our new co-commissioned 
model of CDYOS health provision for 2017/19.

 Reviewed and improved our work with young 
people displaying sexually harmful behaviour 
and increased the number of staff trained in 
AIM assessment and interventions;

Reducing Use of Custody
 Embedded improvements to the Intensive 

Supervision and Surveillance Programme;
 Targeted young people at risk of a Remand to 

Youth Detention Accommodation as a means 

of reducing both remand bed nights and 
custodial sentences;

 Reviewed and improved our working practices 
with other parts of Children’s Services;

 Continued our close working relationship with 
the Magistrates’ Court;

 Maintained a 6 day per week service, 
including  experienced court officers  available 
for Saturdays and Bank Holiday special 
courts;

 Maintained dedicated management cover for 
6 day week service.

 Our work on resettlement: All young people 
leaving custody in 2017/18 had appropriate 
accommodation sourced and available prior to 
release;

 Our new co-commissioned model of health 
provision;

 Further development of ClearCut 
Communication resources to  support young 
people’s engagement in the Youth Justice 
System;

 Our child-centred approach – where 
safeguarding of young people is a priority 
alongside preventing re-offending;

Co-Commissioned Health Model:
 Secured funding to implement a co-

commissioned Health Model of multi-
professional health provision;

 Enhanced the range of health professionals in 
the service who work to their specialist skills 
and support a range of health needs of young 
people who offend or who are at risk of 
offending;

 Secured funding to provide for 0.4fte 
Consultant Psychologist to provide clinical 
supervision for CDYOS case managers 
working with young people exhibiting sexually 
harmful behaviour and young people 
experiencing trauma

Work with Victims, including Young Victims
 Improved the involvement of victims in 

deciding the type of reparation work to be 
undertaken;

 Expanded our programme for parents who are 
victims of their child’s offending;

 Continued to improve the service we offer to 
victims and young people who offend through 
our restorative justice work;

 Further developed and embedded our group 
of  mentors and ‘leaders’ all of whom are 
young people who have been victims of crime 
and expanded both the group size and the 
range of activities on offer;

 Expanded restorative justice interventions 
across all orders in the service;

Page 101



County Durham Youth Offending Service

6

 Continued to work closely with the Office of 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 
(OPCVC);

 Embedding new roles for volunteers in service 
delivery and having over 50 trained active 
volunteers;

 Our specialist Restorative Justice (RJ) work to 
support victims of youth crime;

 Delivering our work in the communities where 
young people and families live;

 Delivering over 4,000 hours of court ordered 
reparation/ unpaid work and raising over £800 
for charity from young people’s reparation 
work;

 Our ‘Thinking about Victims’ programme 
(ClearCut Communication) winning the 
national Shine A Light Innovation Award. The 
programme supports engagement (by both 
victim and perpetrator) in the restorative 
process;

Support for Young People’s Education and 
Progression:
 The development of our Skill Mill programme 

bringing meaningful job and training 
opportunities for young people under the 
supervision of CDYOS.
 Being awarded the Quality Lead Mark for 

our work on SEND;
 Continued our response to the speech, 

language and communication needs (SLCN) 
of young people in the Youth Justice System, 
so that they are supported to engage in further 
Education, Employment and Training 
opportunities;

 Expanded our ClearCut Communication 
resources for young people in the Youth 
Justice System and provided training in SLCN 
and use of our resources to numerous 
agencies both locally and nationally;

 Extended the use of volunteers as mentors for 
young people under the supervision of 
CDYOS and acted as Independent Visitors for 

young people looked after by the Local 
Authority;

 Extended young people’s volunteering 
opportunities;

 Influencing the youth justice system nationally 
– over 50 YOTs have purchased and are 
using our ClearCut Communication resources;

In 2018/19 we will:
 Reduce First Time Entrants to the Youth 

Justice System;
 Reduce re-offending by young people;
 Reduce the use of custody for both sentenced 

and remanded young people.

By:
 Improving how we communicate with young 

people and the interventions we do with them;
 Putting victims, including young victims, and 

restorative justice at the heart of everything 
we do;

 Reducing re-offending by targeting our 
resources on those young people committing 
the most offences and improving their 
engagement in opportunities for education, 
employment and training;

 Ensuring we have robust quality assurance 
and staff management processes in place and 
a skilled management team to manage these 
processes;

 Ensuring that we listen  and respond to what 
young people and their families are telling us;

 Ensuring that volunteering, by both adults and 
young people, is a key component of the work 
we do with young people and victims;

 Ensuring that case management systems and 
administration support provides the highest 
quality support to staff and managers in the 
delivery of services to courts, communities, 
victims, families and young people.

See Appendix 3 (Service Improvement Plan 
2018/19) for more detail.

Page 102



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

7

Introduction

Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory 
partnerships, established under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of 
preventing offending by children and young 
people. Local Authorities are responsible for 
establishing a Youth Offending Team within their 
area. Police, National Probation Service and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are 
statutorily required to assist in their funding and 
operation. 

Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty 
to submit an annual youth justice plan relating to 
their provision of youth justice services. Section 
40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out 
the youth offending partnership’s responsibilities 
in producing this plan. It states that it is the duty 
of each local authority, after consultation with the 
partner agencies, to formulate and implement a 
statutory annual youth justice plan setting out:
• How youth justice services in their area are to 

be provided and funded;
• How the Youth Offending Service (YOS) will be 

composed and funded, how it will operate, 
and what functions it will carry out.

Plans covering more than one year require an 
annual refresh and updating of key information, 
particularly in relation to finance and governance.

Statutory requirements placed on the YOS and 
the Management Board include:
• Complying with the statutory requirements laid 

out in s.38 to 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, and other relevant sections of the Act;

• Complying with National Standards for Youth 
Justice (including returning the annual NS 
audit). From 1 July 2017 AssetPlus is the only 
assessment framework approved by the YJB 
and is therefore mandatory for compliance 
with National Standards and assessments;

 Submitting required data to the YJB in 
adherence with the relevant YJB data 
recording guidance;

 Ensuring Connectivity is used to transfer data 
across the youth justice system (including 
case transfers and stage updates under 
AssetPlus sent between YOT; between YOTs 
and YJB Placements; and between YOTs and 
the secure estate in accordance with 
AssetPlus requirements).

The overarching role that youth offending 
services have in case management for all young 
people in the youth justice system is recognised 
as one of the key factors in the success seen in 
recent years. This includes: a reduction in the 
number of young people in the youth justice 
system, in first time entrants to the youth justice 
system, and the number in custody.

‘There is no doubt that a key strength of the 
youth justice system has been the delivery 
through YOTs of locally based, multi-
disciplinary services for children who offend.’
 (The Taylor Review, paragraph 18).

County Durham Youth Offending Service
County Durham Youth Offending Service 
(CDYOS), a statutory multi-agency partnership, is 
part of Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council, and is managed by 
them on behalf of the partnership. Active links are 
maintained at both strategic and operational level 
to Criminal Justice, Community Safety and 
Children, Young People and Families arenas.

The Service is represented at strategic level in a 
range of key partnerships (e.g. Children and 
Families Partnership, Safe Durham Partnership 
(CSP), Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB), Local Criminal Justice Board (LCJB), 
Strategic MAPPA Board, Think Family 
Partnership etc.), as well as relevant sub groups.

Strategic Purpose of CDYOS
• To prevent re-offending by children and young 

people;
• To reduce First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the 

youth justice system;
• To be achieved by delivering specialist 

interventions;
• Underpinned by safeguarding and public 

protection.

Page 103



County Durham Youth Offending Service

8

For 2018/19, CDYOS’ primary focus is on the following three outcome areas:
• reducing first time entrants
• reducing re-offending
• reducing the use of custody (both sentenced and remanded)
• and ensuring public protection/safeguarding by providing specialist interventions.

We will embed service improvements; focus on the quality of practice; and work to ensure we 
continue to improve outcomes and focus on core business.

See Appendix 3: Service Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 104



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

9

Structure and Governance

Governance – Management Board
CDYOS is accountable to a multi-agency 
Management Board, chaired by the Head of 
Children’s Services, Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council. The 
membership and terms of reference of the 
Management Board are reviewed annually.  
Membership is at Chief Officer or appropriate 
Senior Officer level. 

The Management Board consists of: 
 Children  and Young People’s Services, 

Durham County Council (DCC) - Chair;
 Durham Constabulary;
 National Probation Service;
 North East Commissioning Support (NECS) 

representing the two Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs);

 HM Courts and Tribunals Service;
 Improving Progression of Young People 

Team, DCC;
 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 

Commissioner (OPCVC);
 Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company;
 Public Health, DCC;
 SEND and Inclusion, Education, DCC;
 NHS England Health and Justice (new 

member from April 2017)

Membership and governance are reviewed 
annually in line with ‘Modern Youth Offending 
Partnerships – Guidance on Effective Youth 
Offending Team Governance in England’ 
(MoJ/YJB, November 2013) to ensure they 
remain robust in a complex and changing 
operating environment.

From January 2017, the Management Board has 
established a series of subgroups/aligned 
partnership groups. The Board receives regular 
updates from the Chairs (CDYOS Board 
members) at each meeting. This ensures 
synergy and ensures youth justice continues to 
be a priority across the wider partnership arena. 

Subgroups include the following (Chair in 
brackets):
 Health Steering Group (YOS Manager 

CDYOS);
 Reducing Re-offending (cross cutting 

subgroup across Safe Durham Partnership 
and Safer Darlington Partnership - OPCVC);

 Victims and Witnesses (cross cutting across 
Safe Durham Partnership and Safer 
Darlington Partnership – OPCVC);

 Vulnerable Child Pathway (subgroup of 
Healthy Child Programme Board – Public 
Health);

 Transitions (group to be established across 
DTV CRC area, Durham, Darlington and Tees 
Valley,  to include the 5 YOS – CRC)

The Management Board reports to the Children 
and Families Partnership, Safe Durham 
Partnership and County Durham Partnership 
(overarching partnership for Co. Durham).  
Durham County Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees also monitor performance against 
the 3 national outcome measures and receive 
annual presentations from the Strategic Manager 
CDYOS on progress against the Youth Justice 
Plan.

The Management Board ensures CDYOS can 
deliver effective youth justice services and 
improve outcomes for young people by:
 Providing clear performance oversight and 

direction;
 Receiving regular budget reports;
 Ensuring the service is adequately resourced;
 Providing clear governance and 

accountability;
 Reviewing the statutory partners’ budget 

contribution to CDYOS;
 Ensuring excellent links with the Children and 

Families Partnership, Safe Durham 
Partnership, Local Criminal Justice Board 
(LCJB), Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) and broader partnership arena.

This is achieved by providing:
 Strategic oversight and direction;
 Support;
 Partnership working;
 Planning and resources.

The Youth Justice Plan, after approval by the 
Management Board, is presented to Cabinet 
and full Council for approval before submission 
to the YJB.

Durham County Council (DCC) Structures
Durham County Council’s new Chief Executive 
took up post in January 2016.  A major 
transformation programme across the whole 
council commenced in 2016. This has included 
the creation of some new service groupings.

Page 105



County Durham Youth Offending Service

10

The former Children and Adults Service 
directorate was disaggregated during 2016 and 
two new directorates created: Children and 
Young People’s Services and Adult and Health 
Services. Each has a Corporate Director.

CDYOS is part of Children and Young People’s 
Services, Durham County Council and managed 
by them on behalf of the partnership. On the 1st 
April 2018, CDYOS restructured along with the 
wider Children’s Services and now the Strategic 
Manager (Children’s Services Reform & CDYOS) 
is line managed by the Head of Head of Early 
Help, Assessment and Safeguarding (EHAS) 
(Chair of the Management Board) and is a 
member of Children’s Services EHAS 
Management Team. 

Children and Young People’s Services include:
 One Point (Early Help, Prevention and Think 

Family Services)
 CDYOS
 Aycliffe Secure Services
 Child Protection and Disability 
 Looked After Children and Permanence
 First Contact and Intervention
 Families First
 Education

Children and Young People’s Services provides 
a clear continuum of services (including early 
help and prevention, education, children’s social 
care, specialist youth justice services) and 
valuable opportunities for joint work and 
innovation across the spectrum of services. 
Think Family and Early Help Strategies underpin 
CDYOS’ work. 

CYPS Strategic Managers work closely with the 
Corporate Director and Heads of Service on 
cross cutting themes e.g. quality improvement.

CDYOS continues to work closely with 
colleagues in Adult and Health Services (e.g. 
Public Health) and across the council. Joint work 
and innovation is essential in the context of a 
rapidly changing operating environment and 
reducing resources.

Reducing Youth Crime – Integrated Strategic 
Planning
The primary focus of CDYOS – preventing re-
offending by young people, reducing first time 
entrants to the Youth Justice System and 
reducing the use of custody – is fully integrated 

into the following strategic plans/strategies in 
County Durham:
 Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) Plan; 
 County Durham Children, Young People and 

Families Plan;
 Durham County Council Plan;
 The Sustainable Community Strategy for 

County Durham;
 Safe Durham Partnership Reducing Re-

Offending Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Integrated 

Restorative Practice Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Anti-Social 

Behaviour Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Alcohol Harm 

Reduction Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Drug Strategy
 Think Family Strategy;
 Early Help Strategy;
 Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan;
 County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy;
 Durham County Council Strategy for Children 

and Young People with Special Educational 
Needs and / or Disabilities.

The health needs of young people who offend 
are included in both the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and Joint Strategic Assessment.  
This maximises opportunities for joint work 
across partnerships and ensures a co-ordinated 
strategic approach across County Durham.  

CDYOS has developed effective links with health 
partners. During 2016/17 the service worked with 
Public Health and partners to complete a Health 
Needs Assessment (HNA) of young people who 
offend. This has resulted in a new co-
commissioned model of health provision in 
CDYOS for 2017/19, agreed by the Management 
Board and health commissioners. The HNA has 
been shared with a range of partnerships

The service has developed effective links with 
the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner. CDYOS partnership priorities are 
included in the Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan. 

Think Family work in Co. Durham has been 
improved by the active involvement of CDYOS. 
Additional funding was secured to expand the 
role of CDYOS volunteers as family mentors for 
the Stronger (Troubled) Families programme 
until March 2018.

Page 106



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

11

Resources and Value for Money

CDYOS is committed to the following principles:
 maintaining front line delivery and core 

services to young people and partners as far 
as possible;

 ensuring CDYOS remains in a position to 
improve practice and outcomes for young 
people;

 ensuring young people are safeguarded and 
risk is managed;

 ensuring Value for Money (VfM).

These underpin all our work re. budgetary 
management. Robust financial management is 
underpinned by regular budget reports to the 
Management Board, CYPS Management Team 
and Finance colleagues, DCC.

Budget 2018/19
CDYOS budget comprises partnership funding, 
YJB funding and specific grant funding.  The 
budget allocation is reviewed annually by 
CDYOS Management Board and all partners 
(Police, Probation, Health (CCGs) and Local 
Authority) agree funding contributions for the 
following year. 

CDYOS pooled budget for 2018/19 is 
£2,439,746.
92% of CDYOS budget is spent on staff costs. 
94% of this is front line delivery.

A detailed budget breakdown can be found at 
Appendix 2.

CDYOS partnership has implemented a 
comprehensive youth crime strategy, focused on 
reducing re-offending, which includes out of court 
and post court. 

Our nationally recognised fully integrated out of 
court system has evidenced success in reducing 
first time entrants and re-offending and is an 
Invest to Save strategy. It has resulted in 89.5% 
reduction in first time entrants since 2007/08; and 
56.7% reduction in the number of offences 
committed and 69.3% reduction in the number of 
young people offending since 2010/11. The 
number of young people re-offending and the 
number of offences committed has fallen 
consistently since 2010/11.

YJB Grant Funding 2018/19
The YJB provides 2 grants which are part of 
CDYOS’ pooled budget:  
 Youth Justice (YOT) Grant (England)
 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation 

(RYDA) Grant

Both grants are ring-fenced to youth justice 
services.

Youth Justice (YOT) Grant: £612,038
The ring-fenced grant is provided by the YJB to 
local authorities ‘for the purposes of the 
operation of the youth justice system and the 
provision of youth justice services’ (‘Youth 
Justice Plans: YJB Practice Note for Youth 
Offending Service Partnerships’, YJB, May 
2017).  The grant may only be used by the Local 
Authority to fund its Youth Offending Team with a 
view to achieving the following outcomes:
 Reduction in youth re-offending;
 Reduction in the numbers of first time entrants 

to the Youth Justice System;
 Reduction in the use of the youth custody;
 Effective public protection;
 Effective safeguarding. 

The YJ Grant is used as part of CDYOS pooled 
budget (see Appendix 2). This supports delivery 
of our Service Improvement Plan 2018/19 which 
focuses on the key outcome measures:
 Reducing re-offending;
 Reducing first time entrants;
 Reducing use of custody;
 Underpinned by safeguarding and public 

protection.

Uncertainty caused by late notification of YJB 
grants can cause problems re. business 
planning.

Remands to Youth Detention 
Accommodation: £30,373
From April 2013, the full cost of all remand bed 
nights became the responsibility of the local 
authority, following implementation of that part of 
the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of 
Offenders (LASPO) Act 2012. The Remand to 
Youth Detention Accommodation (RYDA) 
presents a new – and major – burden and risk to 
local authorities. The grant is for bed nights in 
Young Offenders Institutions (YOI) only.

Page 107



County Durham Youth Offending Service

12

Budget Savings 2018/19
CDYOS, like all public services, has to manage 
within a tough budgetary environment. 

Since 2010/11, CDYOS budget has reduced by 
£2.1m (37.4% reduction). It should be noted the 
budget savings have been achieved while 
improving performance across a range of 
measures by developing new and more efficient 
ways of working.

We managed the revised budget envelope for 
2018/19 by: 
 reviewing all staffing in light of service needs 

and re-profiling some posts to increase 
resilience/capacity;

 restructuring the Service
 formalising working arrangements for service 

operation 6 days per week (7 when 
necessary), including Bank Holidays, with 
dedicated management cover;

 reducing management and support/admin 
services;

 introducing a range of lean admin 
processes/operating procedures;

 reducing all non-staffing expenditure to an 
absolute minimum;

 maximising Durham County Council’s support 
structures; 

 changing the way we work with local 
partnerships (e.g. Safe Durham Partnership/ 
Children and Families Partnership etc.). 

Staffing and Service Delivery

Service Delivery
CDYOS works with young people across the 
whole Youth Justice spectrum (out of court and 
post court) to reduce re-offending. All young 
people have been through formal Police 
processes (e.g. arrest/Police custody suite). 

CDYOS work includes: 
 pre conviction arena (bail and remand 

management);
 fully integrated  out of court system (nationally 

recognised);
 community sentences;
 long term custodial sentences. 

CDYOS ensures the delivery of court orders 
(both in the community and custody) in line with 
National Standards for Youth Justice, national 
Case Management Guidance and other statutory 
requirements. We recruit, train, manage, 
supervise and deploy volunteers to carry out a 
range of functions (including the statutory 
delivery of Referral Order Panels). We operate a 
fully staffed court rota for the Youth Court, 
Remand Court, Crown Court and Special Courts 
(Saturdays and Bank Holidays) with dedicated 
management cover. We ensure safeguarding 
and management of risk, including public 
protection, in relation to young people in the 
Youth Justice System.

Restorative Justice underpins all our work. 
CDYOS works with victims of youth crime to 
ensure meaningful input to work with young 
people who have offended and has expanded 
restorative justice across all orders within 
existing resources. CDYOS was awarded the 
Restorative Service Quality Mark in 2016. 
CDYOS also achieved Investing in Children 
accreditation in 2016 for our work with young 
victims of crime. 

As a result of the increasing complexity of cases, 
CDYOS operates a specialist model of case 
management, enabling staff to work to their 
expertise. The primary focus of staff is on their 
specialist roles. Specialist case managers in our 
two case management teams are responsible for 
assessment, intervention planning and overall 
case management. Interventions, based on risk 
of re-offending, are delivered by the Delivery 
Team and Wrap Around Team 

The focus of all our work is reducing re-
offending. We operate a multi-professional Team 
around the Child, maximising expertise of 
professionals in CDYOS, and utilising additional 
skills from across our partnership as required. 

In 2017/18, over 4000 hours of court 
ordered reparation were completed by 
young people supervised by CDYOS.

Page 108



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

13

Staffing
The Service is staffed in line, and fully complies, 
with the requirements of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998, including: 
 Social Workers;
 Probation Officer (NPS);
 Police Officers;
 Police staff;
 Health staff;
 Education Officers (DurhamWorks).

There is a range of other staff, for example: 
 Managers;
 Youth Justice Consultants;
 Case Managers;
 Victim Liaison Officers;
 Think Family Mentor;
 Family Support Officer;
 Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (ISS) 

Officer;
 Reparation Officer;
 Admin staff;
 Delivery Team staff who deliver a range of 

interventions with young people to reduce re-
offending, including ISS, reparation, and out of 
court. 

Staffing Structure 

See Appendix 4 for CDYOS Staffing Structure.

As of 1 April 2018 CDYOS has 72.42fte staff 
and 50 active volunteers. 

60.42fte staff are employed by Durham County 
Council on behalf of the partnership; 12fte are 
seconded from partners (Durham Constabulary, 
National Probation Service, North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust (NTHFT), 
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 
(HDFT), Tees Esk and Wear Valleys Mental 
Health Trust (TEWV).

All staff and volunteers are trained in Restorative 
Approaches/ Restorative Justice. 50 are trained 
to facilitate Restorative Justice conferences.

Specialist Victim Liaison Officers (VLOs) are 
responsible for high level/complex work with 
victims.

Our co-commissioned, multi-professional model 
of health provision is included in the service 
structure (Appendix 4). 

Funded by a range of partners – Public Health, 
NHS England (Health and Justice), Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), CDYOS and the 
Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner (OPCVC) - the new model 
comprises:
 1fte Speech and Language Therapist;
 1fte Specialist Public Health Children’s Nurse;
 2fte Mental Health Support Workers;
 2fte Drug and Alcohol Workers;
 1.5fte Liaison and Diversion Link Workers;
 0.6 Clinical Psychologist

The Voice of Young People in the Youth 
Justice System
Young people play an active role in the work of 
CDYOS. Their involvement during 2017/18 has 
helped to shape the Service Improvement Plan 
2018/19 and the priorities included in the Youth 
Justice Plan.

The service has numerous ways of obtaining 
young people’s views, including;
 e-survey;
 Manager reviews of cases with young people;
 Referral Order panel reviews with young 

people;
 Every assessment includes a self-assessment 

by the young person;
 Re-engagement Panels with young people 

(for those at risk of breach/non-compliance);
 Every intervention programme is concluded by 

obtaining young people’s views on the work 
undertaken;

 With Youth in Mind – young victims’ 
consultation and engagement group.

The active participation of young people in their 
own assessments and intervention plans is a 
theme running through all CDYOS quality 
assurance work.

Young people supervised by CDYOS provide 
feedback on intervention programmes, both 
those provided by CDYOS and those delivered 
in partnership, at the end of each intervention. 
Their views are used, among other things, by 
CDYOS to determine what is included in our 
Directory of Interventions, used by all case 
managers.

Page 109



County Durham Youth Offending Service

14

Young people’s feedback, their experience and 
frequent lack of understanding of their journey 
through the criminal justice processes, has been 
– and continues to be – central to our Speech, 
Language and Communication Needs Strategy. 
Their engagement in the process – both as 
young people who offend and young victims of 
crime – has transformed how we work and been 
central to the development of our ClearCut 
Communication resources, regarded as national 
best practice and purchased by other YOTs 
nationally.

With Youth in Mind, our young people’s group, 
comprising young victims of crime (aged 9 to 
20), actively shapes our work with young victims 
to improve the service we offer. Over 80 young 
people have been involved since the group was 
established in May 2015. Some young people 
are trained as team leaders to offer peer support 
to other young victims of crime.

‘We started this group because we all were 
very interested in helping young people 
because of our own experiences. This could 
be about bullying or problems at home with the 
idea being that young people support other 
young people who have had similar 
experiences. The leaders and staff put time 
and effort in and really care about you and you 
get the chance to talk about different stuff and 
plan what you want to do for activities.’
(Members of With Youth in Mind)

'County Durham Youth Offending Service 
continues to demonstrate its commitment to 
young people’s rights by engaging with young 
people as both victims of crime as well as 
young people who offend. The Service listens 
to their views and has taken seriously the 
issues they have raised. Investing in Children 
is proud to be able to make their Award ™ in 
recognition of this commitment to young 
people's involvement.'
(Investing in Children, 2016)

Our Health Needs Assessment included 
feedback from young people and this helped to 
shape the new co-commissioned model of health 
provision.

The views of parents/carers and victims also 
shape service delivery e.g. our Parenting 
Support Group which supports parents who are 
victims of their own child’s offending.

Page 110



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

15

Partnership Arrangements

Partnership Arrangements
Partnership arrangements in place to deliver 
effective and efficient youth justice services in 
County Durham include:
 Partners (Police, National Probation Service 

and Health) have maintained their specialist 
staff and financial contributions to the service 
for 2018/19;

 Durham County Council is the lead partner;
 The Management Board consists of statutory 

partners plus broader membership (Office of 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, 
HMCTS, CRC, Public Health, SEND);

 NHS England Health and Justice have joined 
the Board from April 2017;

 Seniority of Management Board members;
 Management Board members are proactive, 

working both within and outside the Board, to 
support the work of the service;

 Subgroups/aligned groups ensure effective 
linkages and synergy with other 
partnerships/work and avoid duplication;

 Partnership work to support the development 
of a range of projects and initiatives e.g. 
Speech Language and Communication Needs 
(SLCN) Strategy; work with RSPCA, Fire and 
Rescue Service, Police re. development of 
additional intervention programmes; Positive 
Futures re. interventions directory;

 CDYOS Interventions Directory includes some 
interventions delivered in partnership; some 
are delivered by partners for CDYOS.

Effective Partnership Work
CDYOS has strong partnership work with an 
extensive range of partners at both strategic and 
operational level. Partners include: 
 Criminal Justice  (Police, Probation, Courts);
 Community Safety (DCC, Health, Fire and 

Rescue);
 Children and Families Partnership (DCC, 

Health, Police, VCS);
 Local Safeguarding Children Board; 

 Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA);

 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner (OPCVC);

 Health (HDFT, CCGs, NECS, TEWV, 
NTHFT);

 National Probation Service (NPS);
 Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company (CRC);
 Think Family/Stronger (Troubled ) Families;
 Local Criminal Justice Board (LSCB).

CDYOS is a key partner in the Criminal Justice 
Board for Durham and Cleveland. Chaired by the 
Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, the 
Board has recently set out an ambitious vision for 
and end-to-end criminal justice system which 
supports victims, reduces re-offending and 
supports rehabilitation. All partners are 
committed to working across organisational 
boundaries, pursuing shared objectives, sharing 
performance information and data, and working 
together to solve problems.

Partnership resourcing in CDYOS is formalised 
by HR Service Level Agreements (SLAs) in 
regards to seconded staff. SLAs are reviewed 
annually.

The Service operates a range of protocols with 
partners (including courts, health, Children and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), 
Children’s Services (former children’s social 
care) which are regularly reviewed.

‘There were good examples of sound and 
effective operational partnership 
arrangements. A particularly good example 
was…housing provision available for young 
people. This was underpinned by an effective 
protocol and well integrated practice supported 
by the availability of plentiful, quality 
arrangements. The effective working 
relationships between the YOS and the wider 
Children’s Services were apparent.’
(Peer Review)

Page 111



County Durham Youth Offending Service

16

Commissioned Services
Our co-commissioned health provision in 
CDYOS (2017/19) is based on the findings and 
recommendations of our Health Needs 
Assessment of young people who offend in 
County Durham. Jointly lead by Public Health 
and CDYOS, it has provided, for the first time, a 
comprehensive analysis of health needs of 
young people in contact with CDYOS and has 
enabled us to enter into discussions to 
commission health services, confident of the 
needs to be met.

In addition to services commissioned for 
CDYOS, the service has also been 
commissioned to deliver training to other 
services for 2018/19. This includes: 
 SLCN awareness/ ClearCut Communication 

resources, both locally and nationally
 ClearCut Communication resources and/or 

training have been purchased by over 50 
YOTs and a range of other services nationally;

 Restorative Approaches training for partners, 
including Residential staff;

 Independent Visitors for LAC (using some of 
our volunteers).

Stronger (Troubled) Families
CDYOS is an active partner in the successful 
delivery of the Stronger Families programme in 
County Durham. A Think Family Mentor is 
aligned to CDYOS, supporting staff in ensuring 
we ‘Think Family’.

Resettlement after Custody
As a result of our multi-agency approach to 
resettlement, all young people leaving custody in 
2017/18 had appropriate accommodation 
sourced and available prior to release. CDYOS 
works closely with Housing and Children’s 
Services to ensure young people are effectively 
resettled.

No young people were remanded to the secure 
estate in 2016/17 as a result of inappropriate 
accommodation.

Prevent
Local Authorities, including Youth Offending 
Services, are subject to a duty under section 26 
of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, 
in the exercise of their functions, to have ‘due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism’. 

This duty, known as the Prevent duty, applies to 
a wide range of public bodies. Within CDYOS 
this duty is discharged through our casework with 
young people who have offended and through 
our membership of partnerships charged with 
carrying out the Prevent work. All CDYOS staff 
have been trained in Prevent and the inherent 
duties through use of e-learning. CDYOS also 
has two staff trained to deliver ‘WRAP’ 
(Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) 
training which was rolled out to staff during 
2017/18. All managers attended a presentation 
by Dr Dave Sloggett, a leading authority on 
Prevent, in April 2016.

Case Managers have worked closely with Police 
and other colleagues when concerns about 
radicalisation/extremism have been identified 
with young people and/or families. 

Information Sharing
Partnership information sharing protocols/ 
agreements work very well and ensure holistic 
assessment, intervention and outcomes for 
young people who offend.  Staff have access to a 
range of case management systems/ databases 
in CDYOS offices, including:
 All Police intelligence systems inc. PNC, 

Sleuth, Blue Delta, Red Sigma, Vicman 
(Police);

 SystmOne (Health);
 ICS/SSID (Safeguarding/ Children’s social 

care);
 Capita ONE (Education);
 Hanlon (DurhamWorks);
 CareDirector Youth (Youth Justice case 

management system).

Police intelligence systems are available to a 
group of vetted and suitably trained staff in 
CDYOS, in addition to Police Officers and Police 
staff.

Page 112



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

17

The range of case management systems / 
databases in CDYOS allows staff and secondees 
to access critical, real time information regarding 
the young person/family to support management 
of risk and vulnerability. This ensures holistic 
assessment and information sharing to improve 
outcomes for young people in the Youth Justice 
System.  
In addition, CareDirector Youth is available for: 
 Emergency Duty Team (EDT);
 All magistrates courts in County Durham for 

CDYOS access. 

Key New Partnerships
Key new partnerships/joint work includes:
 The Royal British Legion – reparation work;
 Children’s Speech and Language Therapy 

Services, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust – Speech, Language and 
Communication Needs Strategy;

 SEND – joint work between Children’s 
Services and Education;

 Safe Durham Partnership –  strategic lead for 
partnership work on Integrated Restorative 
Practice;

 The Prince’s Trust – accreditation of core 
work;

 Colleges, training providers, VCS, Improving 
Progression of Young People Team –  
DurhamWorks (Youth Employment Initiative, 
ESF funded);

 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner – young victims of youth crime;

 RSPCA – Paws4Change programme;
 Durham Constabulary Armoury – Air Guns 

programme;
 Durham Constabulary – U Turn programme;
 Fire and Rescue Service – Firebreak 

programme;
 Positive Futures partners – range of 

programmes available;
 The Open Awards – accreditation of core 

work;
 Checkpoint – partnership diversion 

programme for low level adult offenders;
 Newcastle Skill Mill/ Newcastle YOS – 

development of Skill Mill Durham; 
 Blue Cross – Respectabull intervention 

programme;
 Street Doctors – new intervention programme;
 NHS England Health and Justice, CCGs, 

Public Health, OPCVC – new model of health 
provision;

 Child Advocacy Centre – delivery of 
assessments and interventions for young 
people committing harmful sexual behaviour 
as well as victims.

 Open Awards and Prince’s Trust – CDYOS is 
an Open Awards accreditation centre and a 
member of The Prince’s Trust xl network.

DurhamWorks
CDYOS is a Delivery Partner of the 
DurhamWorks programme (Youth Employment 
Initiative) and, as a result, significant additional 
resource is available to support young people 
who are known to the Service into education, 
employment and training. This is an exciting 
development and will continue the steady 
increase of the number of young people (age 16 
to 18 years) in education, employment and 
training. DurhamWorks ends in July 2018.

National Recognition
National recognition of CDYOS’ work since 2010 
includes: 
 Winning the Youth Justice Award, Children 

and Young People Awards (2010, 2012, 
2013);

 Runner up in the Howard League Community 
Programmes Awards 2010;

 Being awarded Investing in Volunteers (IiV) 
status (January 2013);

 IiV status awarded for a further 3 years (2016-
2019) – we are the only Durham County 
Council service to achieve IiV status;

 Two staff awarded a Butler Trust Award 
(March 2016) for their innovative work in 
meeting young people’s speech, language 
and communication needs;

 Two Butler Trust Commendations – for 
contribution to diverting young people from the 
criminal justice system (Strategic Manager, 
2011); and one of our volunteers for over 10 
years’ service in CDYOS (2012);

 We are the only YOS in the country to have 
been awarded a Butler Trust Award and 3 
Commendations;

 Our fully recognised Out of Court system 
included as national best practice in the Out of 
Court Disposals Guidance (MoJ/YJB, 2013);

 Finalist in the Children & Young People Now 
Awards 2015 for ClearCut Communication 
resources;

 Highly Commended in the Shine A Light 
Awards (2015/16) for our ClearCut 
Communication SLCN screening tool;

 Winning the Shine A Light Innovation Award 
(2016/17) – ‘Thinking About Victims’ 
programme,  ClearCut Communication;

 Awarded the Restorative Service Quality Mark 
by the Restorative Justice Council for our 
restorative work across the service;

 Awarded a further three years Investing in 
Volunteers Mark;

 Awarded Investing in Children accreditation 
(2016).

 Awarded Quality Lead status for our SEND 
work

Page 113



County Durham Youth Offending Service

18

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures

All public services are facing challenges from 
reduced funding, and CDYOS is no different. 
CDYOS budget has reduced by £2.1m (37.4%) 
since 2010/11. Despite this, CDYOS has 
continued to improve outcomes for young people 
who offend, families, victims and communities.

The service has set out realistic priorities for the 
future, based on the firm foundations built over 
recent years. These are outlined in this plan.

Risks to future delivery against youth justice 
outcome measures 
Risks have been identified (see table on pages 
22-23) and a series of mitigating actions agreed.

In addition there are a number of other actions in 
place to mitigate risk, including:
 Sector Led Improvement;
 Peer Review;
 Role of CDYOS Youth Justice Consultants;  
 HMIP Practice Assessors;
 CDYOS Quality Assurance Framework;
 Involvement in Youth Justice Reform 

Programme;
 Development work with colleagues in CYPS 

and across partnerships;
 Workforce Development.

Sector Led Improvement
Involvement in Sector Led Improvement enables 
CDYOS to keep up to speed with national 
developments, share good practice and learn 
from others. 

CDYOS is involved in effective practice sharing 
through the North East Practice Development 
Group and the Youth Justice Board, involving 
practice exchange, quality assurance and 
developing protocols.

The Youth Justice Resource Hub contains 
examples of good practice in the Youth Justice 
System, enabling effective practice to be 
disseminated across the sector. CDYOS’ work is 
included on the hub e.g.  our Parenting Support 
Group (which supports parents who are victims 
of their child’s offending). This resource has been 
accessed by other youth justice professionals 
over 350 times (May 2017).

CDYOS Youth Justice Consultants
Youth Justice Consultants have a crucial role in 
driving forward service improvement and quality 
of front line practice. They have shared 
responsibility for the delivery of high quality 
services; provide senior case management 
advice and guidance to staff; and play a vital role 

in quality assurance for both OOCD and post 
court. They have driven forward service 
improvements in a range of areas, e.g. 
AssetPlus; Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE); 
Speech Language and Communication Needs; 
interventions; and the voice of the young person 
in the Youth Justice System.

HMIP Practice Assessors 
Two Youth Justice Consultants and a team 
manager are HMIP Practice Assessors. This 
helps to mitigate risk by keeping CDYOS’ 
practice up to speed with inspection standards.

CDYOS Quality Assurance (QA) Framework
CDYOS has implemented a Quality Assurance 
Framework which covers all QA work undertaken 
by line managers in the service. One element of 
this is a case audit programme and quarterly 
thematic audits, including reviewing our practice 
against HMIP thematic inspections and 
implementing improvement areas. In 2017/18 we 
developed and implemented an Out-of-Court 
Improvement Plan based upon recommendations 
provided by HMIP as an outcome of the thematic 
audit of CDYOS undertaken in 2017. In addition, 
during 2018/19 a self-assessment against the 
HMIP standards will be undertaken as a matter 
of priority.

Themed audits to be undertaken in 2018/19 
include:
 SEND
 SLCN
 CSE
 Full case file audits
 Substance Misuse
 Outcomes

Both the Management Development programme, 
for CDYOS managers, and the staff focus 
sessions will continue throughout 2018/19, as 
part of our QA framework.

Development work with CYPS and across 
Partnerships
Development work with colleagues in CYPS 
includes: developing pathways with One Point; 
improving outcomes for young people with SEND 
in the Youth Justice System; work to reduce 
offending by Looked After Children; and a range 
of improvement activity. CDYOS is represented 
on the Children’s Services Quality Improvement 
Champions Network which is improving the 
quality of assessment, plans, the voice of the 
child and progress towards outcomes.

Page 114



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

19

Development work with partners includes: work 
with the Reducing Re-offending Group 
(desistance pathways etc.) and work with the 
Child Advocacy Centre.  

Workforce Development
An extensive programme of workforce 
development is in place (including youth justice, 
CYPS, SEND, LSCB etc.) to ensure CDYOS 
staff and managers can maintain and develop 
their skills in a rapidly changing operating 
environment.

Diversity
CDYOS is committed to meeting the needs of the 
young people, families and victims with whom we 
work. All staff have undertaken specialist 
diversity training for youth offending, SLCN 
training and, in addition, case managers have 
undertaken specialist diversity training for 
assessments. Diversity issues are a specific 
category on the checklist used by managers to 
countersign assessments and intervention plans

Risk Action to Mitigate Risk
Remands to Youth 
Detention 
Accommodation (RYDA) 
– financial risk to local 
authority

 Reducing Remand Bed Nights Strategy
 Management oversight
 Mid-week and weekend staffed court cover
 Remand Court specialists
 ISS Bail Programme
 Joint work with Children’s Service’s colleagues
 Monthly monitoring of RYDA/corporate reporting

Future budget 
efficiencies/reductions in 
partner contributions

 On-going review of Service structure
 Review accommodation
 Review all vacancies
 Review and develop pathways to support young people after statutory 

supervision
 Consider new ways of working
 Development of Skill Mill Durham

Maintaining improving 
performance in face of 
on-going budget 
reductions

 SIP 2018/19
 Quality Assurance framework
 Self-assessment against HMIP criteria
 Innovation
 Staff forums
 Managers forums

Uncertainty about future 
Youth Justice landscape  
complicates planning

 Youth Justice Reform Programme
 Involvement in YJ Reform Programme at national, regional and local level
 On-going review of Service structure
 Staff forums
 Managers forums
 Innovation
 Emphasis on improving quality of core practice

Re-offending rate 
(binary) increases due to 
continued reduction in 
full cohort numbers at a 
rate greater than 
reduction in numbers of 
young people re-
offending

 Expansion of re-offending targeted cohort
 Review and changes to enhanced programme for re-offending cohort
 Amendments and improvement in QA processes
 Managers forums
 Staff forums
 Emphasis on improving quality of core practice
 SIP 2018/19

‘We were extremely impressed by the enthusiasm and dedication of the staff team, who were clearly 
motivated to provide the best service to meet the needs of the young people engaged with the service. 
There was substantial evidence from both the staff team and the young people themselves. We heard 
good evidence of relationship based practice and young people felt their YOS workers were there for 
them.’  
(Peer Review)

Page 115



County Durham Youth Offending Service

20

‘We would like to thank members of the youth offending service for all their help, support and advice. 
They have all been fantastic… We felt A had not received the right support until working with members 
of the YOS.

Over the years we have had a variety of agencies working with A, but we have never received such 
caring, conscientious, understanding and outstanding support that we have received from the youth 
offending service. We can’t praise or thank the staff who have worked with A enough. We are going to 
miss them, their support and advice immensely. They are a credit to your service.’
(Family of a young person, March 2017)    

Page 116



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

21

Appendix 1 CDYOS Management Board – Approval of Strategic Plan

This plan was considered by CDYOS Management Board in May 2018.  

I approve this plan on behalf of the Board.

Carole Payne

Chair of CDYOS Management Board

14 May 2018

Page 117



County Durham Youth Offending Service

22

Appendix 2 Review of Performance against the Three Key Indicators

First Time Entrants 2007/08 – 2017/18
As a result of our close work with partners and our fully integrated out of court system which provides 
assessment and intervention when a young person has gone through formal Police process (e.g. arrest/ 
Police custody suite), we have reduced first time entrants (FTEs) and re-offending.  Our Police Colleagues 
undertake “restorative approaches” on the street which in turn prevents referral for pre-caution disposals.

Between Oct.11-Sept.12 and Oct.16-Sept.17, we have achieved a 52.1% reduction in first time entrants, 
from 290 to 139.  

Table 1:

The latest available locally sourced data shows 119 young people entering the Youth Justice System 
between April 2017 and March 2018 at a rate of 277.  This is the lowest ever rate achieved.

Page 118



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

23

Reducing the Use of Custody 2011/12 – 2017/18
Between 2013 and 2017 we have reduced the rate of custodial sentences from 0.73 to 0.4.   

The CDYOS performance is on par with the England and North East region at a rate per 1,000 10-17 
population of 0.4.

The most up to date locally sourced information (April 2017-March 2018) shows 15 custodial 
sentences which is a reduction in the rate to 0.35.  

We have reduced the number of remand bed nights (Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation) by 
33.4%, on the previous year.

Number of Young People Offending and Offences Committed 2010/11 – 2017/18
Since 2010/11 we have achieved a 56.7% reduction in the number of offences committed, from 2464 in 
2010/11 to 1068 in 2017/18; and a 69.3% reduction in the number of young people offending, from 1270 
in 2010/11 to 390 in 2017/18. This includes all offences committed by young people aged 10-17 years, 
resulting in a Pre Reprimand Disposal (PRD) 2008 - 2013 / Pre Caution Disposal (PCD) 2013 onwards, 
out of court disposal or a court conviction. Most of these offences had a victim, so that means many fewer 
victims too.

Reducing Re-offending 2007/08 – 2015/16
Re-offending is measured nationally by the MoJ. and includes all young people who:
 Receive an out of court disposal (N.B. This does not include the Pre Caution Disposal)
 Receive a court conviction
 Were discharged from custody

The measure counts any offences committed in a 12 month follow up period, where those offences are 
proved by a court conviction or out of court disposal in that period or in a further 6 months. This gives a 
methodologically robust measure of re-offending.

All data is taken from the Police National Computer (PNC) and is summarised before distribution to youth 
offending services/teams.

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2015 – March 2016 cohort) shows a re-offending rate of 46.4% 
which is a 7.6% reduction compared to the previous year.  This is higher than the England rate which 
is  42.2% but below the North East rate which is 50%.

Page 119



County Durham Youth Offending Service

24

Appendix 3 County Durham Youth Offending Service Budget 2018/19 

Agency Staffing 
Costs

Payments 
in Kind

Other 
Delegated 
Funds

Total

Local Authority 1,527,598 1,527,598

Police Service 151,249 72,000 121,000 344,249

National Probation Service 45,532 5,000 50,532

Health Provision (Co-commissioned) 212,000 50,267 262,267

OPCVC 186,000 186,000

YJB – Youth Justice (YOT) Grant 612,038 612,038

Durham Works (until July 2018) 25,100 35,000

Total 408,781 72,000 2,527,003 3,007,784

N.B.
The Youth Justice (YOT) Grant is used as part of partnership pooled budget to support delivery of our 
Service Improvement Plan (see Appendix 3) to support work to reduce re-offending, first time entrants and 
use of custody.

Page 120



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

25

Appendix 4 Service Improvement Plan 2018/19

Priority
1) Improving how we communicate with young people and the interventions we complete with them
 Expand the SLCN resources available for work with young people – Referral Order
 Further develop the ClearCut brand
 Continue to review, amend and expand the range of interventions delivered by the Delivery Team, 

especially in respect of desistance factors
 Develop interventions that support the ‘Good Lives’ model
 Continue to improve the quality of the programmes delivered
 Improve Case Managers’ confidence in screening for a range of health needs
 Embed and improve the quality of assessments through AssetPlus
 Implement the new model of health provision within CDYOS
 Embed and expand the Skill Mill for County Durham
 Develop and implement pathways with One Point, especially in respect of young people displaying anti-

social behaviour
 Improve the pathways and risk management process for young people displaying sexually harmful 

behaviour in conjunction with the Consultant Psychologist
 Enhance our links with the Child Advocacy Centre and build on the AIM procedures
 Improve the quality of our work with young people leaving care
 Ensure Case Managers are aware and supported to improve audit findings
2) Putting victims, especially young victims, and Restorative Justice at the heart of everything we do
 Expand With Youth in Mind Group for young people who have been victims of crime
 Expand the Parenting Support Group for parents who are victims of their own child’s offending
 Embed the role of Case Managers in work with victims
3) Targeting our resources on those young people committing the most offences
 Undertake an analysis of the re-offending cohort to inform the following action
 Review and improve both the enhanced programme and the process for reviewing the re-offending cohort
4) Ensuring we have robust quality assurance and staff management processes in place and a skilled 

management team to manage these processes
 Deliver a series of training sessions for managers based on audit findings
 Ensure CDYOS is prepared for the implementation of the new HMIP inspection framework and complete a 

self-assessment
 Expand the programme of ‘operational managers’ development sessions
 Implement the programme of themed audits to compliment routine case auditing
 Ensure CDYOS auditing programme complements and links with the wider Children’s Services auditing 

programme
 Audit managers’ compliance with CDYOS Quality Assurance processes
 Improve the collation and presentation of audit findings and ensure feedback to staff
5) Ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and their families are telling us
 Embed the e-survey for young people under CDYOS supervision
 Improve the use of young people’s self-assessment into the AssetPlus assessment process
 Review and increase the Voice of the Child in our work
 Embed and expand With Youth in Mind Group for young people who have been victims of crime
 Expand the Parenting Support Group for parents who are victims of their own child’s offending
6) Ensuring volunteering, by both adults and young people, is a key component of the work we 

undertake with young people and victims
 Embed and expand With Youth in Mind Group for young people who have been victims of crime
 Increase the opportunities for young people working with CDYOS to take-up volunteering opportunities
 Develop the Independent Visitors programme for LAC based upon the findings of the pilot programme
 Increase the use of volunteer mentors working with young people
7) Ensuring that case management systems and administration support provides the highest quality 

support to staff and managers in the delivery of services to courts, communities, victims, families 
and young people.

 Expand the review of management information to include all management information needs, especially in 
respect of individual team performance

Page 121



County Durham Youth Offending Service

26

Appendix 5 Service Structure 2018/19

Page 122



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

27

Appendix 6 CDYOS Statutory Functions

Provision of:
 Case management of Court Orders (Community and Custody) in line with National Standards for Youth 

Justice
 Out of Court Disposals
 Specialist assessment based on criminogenic factors and desistance
 Interventions to reduce re-offending
 Court staffing (Youth, Crown, Remand Courts including Saturday and Bank Holiday working)
 Bail Supervision functions
 Appropriate Adult service for Police interviews (PACE)
 Pre Sentence Reports for Courts
 Community Volunteers (Referral Order Panels)
 Recruit, train, manage, supervise, and deploy volunteers to carry out statutory functions
 Referral Order Panel Reports
 ‘Prevention’ services to prevent youth crime
 Anti-Social Behaviour escalation supervision 
 Service to victims of youth crime (both young people and adults)
 Delivery of court-ordered reparation to community and victims
 Delivery of Unpaid Work requirements (16/17 year olds)
 Transition services to NPS/CRC
 YJMIS data / management info to Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice regarding youth justice 

cases
 Parenting Orders imposed in the Youth Court (Criminal Matters)
 Case management of Sex Offenders (Assessment, Intervention and Moving On (AIM)) – young people 

under 18
 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation (RYDA)
 Resettlement of young people after custody

Duty to:
 Comply with National Standards for Youth Justice (accountable to Ministers)
 Comply with arrangements for multi-agency public protection (MAPPA)
 Comply with relevant legislation
 Cooperate with MAPPA/LSCB/SDP (CSP)
 Provide and support a Management Board
 Produce and deliver an annual Youth Justice Plan
 Provide assistance to persons determining whether Youth Cautions or Youth Conditional Cautions 

should be given
 Cooperate with Children’s Services to improve wellbeing of children and young people in County 

Durham
 Cooperate regarding safeguarding and public protection incidents in the community (YJB)

Additional Functions:
 Provision of Out of Court Disposals (service delivery)
 Provision of Think Family / Stronger Families
 Manage safeguarding and risk management inherent in all the above 
 Team Around the Child (TAC) / Team Around the Family (TAF)
 Assessment, Planning Interventions, Supervision (APIS)
 Offending Behaviour Programmes (OBPs)

Page 123



County Durham Youth Offending Service

28

Appendix 7 Glossary   

Acronym Meaning

AIM Assessment, Intervention and Moving on
APIS Assessment, Planning, Intervention and Supervision
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
CCG(s) Clinical Commissioning Group(s)
CDYOS County Durham Youth Offending Service
CRC Community Rehabilitation Company
CSP Community Safety Partnership
CSPPI Community Safeguarding and Public Protection Incidents
DCC Durham County Council
DTO Detention and Training Order
ESF European Social Fund
FTEs First Time Entrants (to the Youth Justice System)
fte Full Time Equivalent (staff) 
HDFT Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust
HMCTS Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service
HMIP Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation
HNA Health Needs Assessment 
HR Human Resources
IiV Investing in Volunteers
ISS Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (alternative to custody)
LAC Looked After Children
LCJB Local Criminal Justice Board
LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board
MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
MoJ Ministry of Justice
NECS North East Commissioning Support (Health)
NTHFT North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust
NPS National Probation Service
OBPs Offending Behaviour Programmes
OPCVC Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner
OOCD Out of Court Disposal
PACE Police and Criminal Evidence Act
PCD Pre Caution Disposal (April 2013 onwards)
PIO Practice Improvement Officer
PNC Police National Computer 
PRD Pre Reprimand Disposal (May 2008 – March 2013)
QA Quality Assurance
RJ Restorative Justice
RJC Restorative Justice Council
RSQM Restorative Service Quality Mark
RSPCA Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty To Animals
RYDA Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation
SEND Special Educational Needs and DisabilityPage 124



Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

29

Acronym Meaning

SDP Safe Durham Partnership (CSP)
SIP Service Improvement Plan
SLCN Speech, Language and Communication Needs
TAC Team Around the Child
TAF Team Around the Family
TEWV Tees, Esk, and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (Mental Health)
VCAS Victim Care Advice Service
VCS Voluntary and Community Sector
VfM Value for Money
VLO Victim Liaison Officer
YOI Youth Offender Institution
YJ Youth Justice
YJB Youth Justice Board
YJMIS Youth Justice Management Information System
YOS Youth Offending Service
YOT Youth Offending Team

Page 125



County Durham Youth Offending Service

30

Appendix 8 Contact Details

Julie Scurfield
Strategic Manager – Children’s Services Reform & YOS

Dave Summers
YOS Manager

County Durham Youth Offending Service
Durham County Council
Council Offices
Civic Centre
North Terrace
Crook
Co Durham
DL15 9ES

Telephone:  03000 265 999

clearcutcommunication@durham.gov.uk

Page 126



County Durham Youth Offending Service

Youth Justice Plan
2018 / 2019

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

7 January 2019

Quarter Two 2018/19
Performance Management Report  

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report
1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 

council’s corporate performance framework for the Altogether Safer 
priority theme.

Performance Report for quarter two, 2018/19
2 The performance report for quarter two, 2018/19 is attached at 

Appendix 2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the 
Altogether Safer priority theme and includes the key performance 
messages from data available this quarter along with visual summaries 
and data tables for each key question.

3 Consultation is currently underway in order to develop a new vision for 
County Durham. Between 22 November 2018 and 18 January 2019 the 
public are being asked to provide their views on our proposed high level 
aims. This feedback will then be used in order to develop a draft 
Durham 2030 Vision, which will be subject to further consultation 
between February and March. In line with this, we will be reviewing our 
six ‘Altogether’ priority themes in order to better reflect our new 
priorities.

Page 129

Agenda Item 10

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19635/Durham-2030-our-vision-for-the-future


Executive summary
4 The recorded increase in crime and decrease in Anti-Social Behaviour 

(ASB) incidents is mainly due to a change in recording practices. 
However, it is acknowledged that there has also been a real increase in 
some crime types as well as environmental ASB incidents reported to 
the council (more reports of littering, detritus and bonfires). The number 
of first time entrants to the youth justice system has decreased, 
primarily due to using pre-reprimand disposals for first offences. Fewer 
people were killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions. We 
continue our work in relation to water safety, both in Durham City and 
countywide.

Risk Management

5 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects.

6 The key risk to successfully delivering the objectives of this theme is:

A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or serious harm to 
a service user.  Management consider it possible that this risk could 
occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on service users, will 
result in serious damage to the Council’s reputation and to relationships 
with its safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency 
Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking 
forward actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a 
comprehensive training programme for staff and regular supervision 
takes place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed 
regularly.

Recommendation
7 That the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee receive the report and consider any performance issues 
arising herewith. 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071

Page 130



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 
financial planning.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 
process.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 
been included to monitor staffing issues.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 
integrated into the quarterly performance management report.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 131



This page is intentionally blank

Page 132



Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Performance Management 

Report

Quarter Two, 2018/19

Page 133



ALTOGETHER SAFER
How effective are we at tackling (1) crime and disorder, and (2) anti-social behaviour? 

all recorded crime

+ 6,442
+ 15%

violence 
against the 

person

+ 3,906
+ 26%

other 
crimes

+ 1,153
+ 20%

theft 
offences

+ 813
+ 6%

criminal 
damage & 

arson

+7
0%

sexual 
offences

+202
+14%

robbery

+44
+31%

unclassified

+ 317
-

All ASB
- 2,215
(-8%)

Environmental
-172
(-1%)

Personal
-1,117
(-25%)

Nuisance
-926
(-9%)

50,659
crimes

26,986
ASB incidents

53% of respondents to National Crime Survey think Council & Police are dealing with ASB and crime 
issues that matter to the local area (June 2018)

1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018

Compared to same period the previous year

12,426
council reported

-699
 (-5%)

14,560
police reported

- 1,516
 (- 9%)

97 crimes per 

1,000 population  

P
age 134



Altogether Safer 
1 The priority theme of Altogether Safer is structured around the following five key 

questions:

 How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
 How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
 How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
 How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, 

child exploitation and radicalisation?
 How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

2 Although most of the increase in recorded crime can be attributed to a change in 
recording practices, it is acknowledged that there has also been a real increase 
in most crime types during the same period.  However, it is difficult to quantify the 
extent of this real increase due to the recording changes.

3 Previously, many incidents would not have been classified as a crime but the 
change in recording practices means all reports of a crime must be recorded as 
such until investigation proves otherwise. The increase across County Durham is 
higher than most other forces across England but this is due to Durham 
Constabulary being one of the first police forces to be audited for compliance 
with the new recording practices. As other forces are audited, it is expected that 
they will also show higher increases. 

4 The category of ‘violence against the person’ experienced the greatest increase, 
the clear majority of which (90%, 3,511) was due to an increase in the sub-
category of ‘violence without injury’ – where the victim is punched, kicked, 
pushed or jostled with no resulting injury. The increase is consistent across all 
localities in County Durham.

5 Across the categories, crimes involving harassment increased by 1,381 incidents 
(+30%). This increase is also likely to be due to the new recording practices and 
coincides with a decrease in Anti-Social Behaviour.

6 There has been some movement within the underlying categories and across 
localities in relation to theft offences. For example, residential burglaries 
increased by 594 whilst non-residential burglaries decreased by 575. Notable 
increases included vehicle thefts, shoplifting and other theft. 

7 Year to date, shoplifting has increased by 12% (+241 crimes). Bishop Auckland, 
Newton Aycliffe, Chester-le-Street and Stanley have all shown increases of 
around a third. Spennymoor has experienced a 128% increase (+100). We are 

Page 135



analysing the data set to determine if there is any link to the roll-out of Universal 
Credit, an update will be provided at quarter three. 

8 This reduction in the rate of first time entrants to the Youth Justice System is 
primarily due to the introduction nationally (in 2008) of pre-reprimand disposals 
for children committing their first offence as an alternative to court and possible 
conviction. 

9 Local data from CDYOS' Case Management System shows that between April 
and September 2018 there were 61 FTEs which equates to a rate of 141.3 per 
100,000 population.

How effective are we at tackling Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)? 
10 The decrease in the number of ASB incidents can be partly attributed to the 

change in crime recording practices. Many of the incidents which were previously 
recorded as ASB would now be recorded as crimes.

11 ‘Environmental ASB’ sub-categories reported to the council showing increases 
between 1 October 2017 and 30 September 2018, compared to the same period 
last year, are reports of street litter/detritus (+525, +15%), bonfires (+137, +90%) 
and graffiti (+44, 13%).

12 Initial analysis shows most of the increases were in the East of the County; 
Easington, Peterlee, Horden. There was also a similar increase in criminal 
damage and arson in the area. The police and fire services had a coordinated 
attempt to address the issues (Operation Valdis) and there has been a subsequent 
decrease in incidents. Many of these incidents involved people setting fire to 
rubbish.

Page 136



ALTOGETHER SAFER

How well do we (3) reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol, and (4) tackle abuse of vulnerable people? 

Successful 
Completion 

of treatment.
(Mar 17 to Feb 18 

with reps to Aug 18)

• 32% (369)
• Target 28%
• England 39%

Alcohol

• 5.5% (85)
• Target 6%
• England 6%

Opiates

• 29% (226)
• Target 26.4%
• England 37%

Non-
opiates

experienced 

by 58%
of children 

in need

 
a factor in 

38%
of social care 
assessments

an issue in 

65% of 
initial child 
protection 

conferences 

45% of 
victims are 

repeat 
victims

 

Operation 
Encompass in 

every 
County 
Durham 
school

700 
children 

referred to 
Harbour 
support 
Services

96% 
children felt 
safer upon 

exiting 
support 
services

Domestic Violence

Key Stats

170 child sexual 
exploitation referrals (12 
months ending Sep-18)

1 April 2018 to 30 
September 2018

Compared to same period 
the previous year

2,048 Alcohol 
related violent crime

-106 

1,402 Alcohol 
related ASB^

- 22

(- 2%) 

XXX Drug related 
violent crime

+ XXX 

133 Drug related 
ASB^

+ 40

(+43%) 
^police figures only

Modern Slavery 

P
age 137

https://youtu.be/fkodp2J6yEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkodp2J6yEA


How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 
13 The percentage of alcohol related police reported ASB incidents in the first six 

months of 2018/19 remained static in comparison to the same period 2017/18 and 
currently stands at 18.5%.

14 The County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for adults, young people 
and family members affected by substance misuse was launched on 1 February 
2018 and continues its transition into a new community-based model. A Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) inspection undertaken in October 2018 will further 
direct the attainment of a high-quality standard for service delivery in the first year 
of service implementation. A comprehensive contract monitoring process has been 
established with the new service provider and a baseline tracker for 2018/19. This 
will be reviewed and new targets set for 2019/20 as the service fully embeds. 

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 
abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation? 

15 In July 2018, we received, along with our partners, a Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection (JTAI) which examined how well we work together to protect children 
living with domestic abuse. The inspection team looked at decision making at the 
point of referral and assessment, the quality of our children in need and child 
protection plans and the support we provide in the context of multi-agency 
working. A multi-agency action plan to address the recommendations is currently 
being developed and will be submitted for approval in December 2018.

16 With partners, we have adopted a Community Cohesion Toolkit to target the 
under-reporting of hate crime, been involved in workshops offering the latest 
training and professional advice in relation to exploitation, grooming and 
radicalisation (more than 800 multi-agency attendees) and reviewed referral 
pathways to ensure alignment with increased local government responsibilities for 
the ‘Channel’ process and safeguarding policy and practice. Training includes 
LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation e-learning, a one-day course ‘working together to 
safeguard children and young people from sexual exploitation’ and PREVENT e-
learning (to date, more than 6,500 have completed).

Page 138



ALTOGETHER SAFER

5. How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways? 

Road Safety Key 
Activity: 12 months 

ending Sep-18

Safety of walking / 
cycling

67% (2016) - 
walk

57% (2016) - 
cycle

60% (2018)

57% (National)

Safety of children 
walk / cycling to 

school

57% (2016) - 
walk

49% (2016) - 
cycle

56% (2018)

53% (National)

Road Safety 
Training/Educatio

n: children

56% (2016)

58% (2018)

55% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 
Education: 
motorcycle

52% (2016)

56% (2018)

52% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 

Eduction: young 
drivers

51% (2016)

52% (2018)

51% (National)

Safety 
Carousel 

2,677 
attendees   

Child 
Pedestrian 

Training 

1,297 
attendees Slow to 20 

27    
schools

Young Driver    
Passenger 
Training   

60 
attendees

Car Seat 
Fitting 

Courses 

200 
attendees

Safer Driving 
with Age      

37 
attendees

Bikeability 

3,163 
attendees

National Highways and Transport Survey
(1 October to 30 September 2018 – compared to same period the 

previous year)

Road Safety Overall 
Satisfaction

58%
Poems are used to 
promote road safety in 
schools. Watch the video 
here  

https://www.youtube.com/w
atch?v=qRUfknCuCNw

34 people
2 fatalities
32 injuries

-29
(46%) Killed or 

seriously 
injured in road 

traffic 
collisions 6 children

0 fatalities
6 injuries

-3
(- 33%) 

1 July 2018 to 30 September 
2018

Compared to same period 
the previous year

P
age 139

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw


How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 
waterways? 
17 We continue to develop road safety education and training. The Bikeability 

programme now includes teaching children to cycle using balance bikes and basic 
cycle repairs.  Several road safety programmes were delivered in the Mid-Durham 
AAP locality, including in schools, and involved promoting driver training schemes, 
encouraging seat belt wearing and communicating general road safety. 

18 Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city centre 
and countywide, continue to meet.

19 The City Safety Group has undertaken a range of initiatives in the lead up to 
student freshers’ week and appropriate arrangements were in place for the period 
1-7 October. The group also reviewed self-harm related incidents, from the 
previous quarter, within the river corridor and the death of a man whose body was 
recovered near Prebends Bridge (cause currently unknown). The group 
considered the requirement for additional control measures within the areas where 
incidents occurred. 

20 Countywide, work continues to review existing risk assessments on water safety 
for priority areas across the county. There were no significant incidents throughout 
quarter two, which is very positive given the extremely hot weather. Work has 
commenced on planning for next year’s campaigns and activities. 

21 The Health and Safety Team is assisting with the safety aspects of the design of 
the Chester-le-Street flood alleviation scheme and working closely with Technical 
Services throughout the project phases.

Page 140



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 

partners; and

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.  

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

KEY TO SYMBOLS

Direction of travel Benchmarking Performance against target

GREEN Same or better than comparable period Same or better than comparable group Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group 
(within 2% tolerance)

Performance within 2% of target

RED Worse than comparable period 
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group 
(greater than 2%)

Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils.

North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils.

More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

P
age 141

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


ALTOGETHER SAFER

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 387 276 368 273
90

First time entrants to the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000 
population of 10 to 17 year olds)

253 Apr-Mar 
2017/18 N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN

Yes

Tracker 47.3 37.8
91 Overall crime rate per 1,000 

population 51 Apr-Sep 
2018 N/a RED RED

Apr-Aug 
2018 Yes

Tracker 14.1
92 Rate of theft offences per 1,000 

population 14 Apr-Sep 
2018 N/a GREEN

Yes

Tracker 32 29.5
93 Proportion of all offenders who re-

offend in a 12 month period 32.0 Jan-Dec 
2016 N/a GREEN Not 

comparable
Yes

Tracker - 41.6 44.4
94

Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%)

41.6% Jan-Dec 
2016 N/a GREEN GREEN

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 61.3
95

Dealing with concerns of ASB and 
crime issues (%) by the local council 
and police

53 Jan-Dec 
2017 N/a RED

No

Tracker 16,076
96 Number of police reported incidents of 

anti-social behaviour 14,560 Oct 17-
Sep 18 N/a GREEN

Yes

97 Number of council reported incidents 12,426 Oct 17- Tracker 13,125 Yes

P
age 142



ALTOGETHER SAFER

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

Ref Description Latest 
data

Period 
covered

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

of anti-social behaviour Sep 18 N/a GREEN

ALTOGETHER SAFER

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

28.0 32.6* 39.1 30.8
98 % of successful completions of those 

in alcohol treatment  32.2
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 GREEN AMBER RED GREEN

North East 
2016 Yes

6.0 5.5* 6.4 5.2
99 % of successful completions of those 

in drug treatment - opiates 5.5
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 RED GREEN RED GREEN

North East 
2016 Yes

26.4 28.8* 36.6 27.4
100 % of successful completions of those 

in drug treatment - non-opiates  29.2
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 GREEN GREEN RED GREEN

North East 
2016 Yes

Tracker 17
101 % of anti-social behaviour incidents 

that are alcohol related  18.5 Apr-Sep
2018 N/a RED

Yes

Tracker 25.3
102 % of violent crime that is alcohol 

related 28.7 Apr-Sep
2018 N/a RED

Yes

Tracker 398
103 Alcohol seizures 194 Apr-Jun 

2018 N/a GREEN
No

*2017/18 baseline 

P
age 143



ALTOGETHER SAFER

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 3
104

Building resilience to terrorism (self-
assessment). Scored on level 1 (low) to 
5 (high)

3 2017/18
N/a GREEN

No

Tracker 167
105 Number of child sexual exploitation 

referrals 170 Oct 17 – 
Sep 18 N/a N/a

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER

5. How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 63
106 Number of people killed or seriously 

injured in road traffic accidents 34
N/a GREEN

- Number of fatalities 2 3

- Number of seriously injured 32

Jul-Sep 
2018

60

Yes

Tracker 9
107 Number of children killed or seriously 

injured in road traffic accidents 6
N/a GREEN

- Number of fatalities 0 0

- Number of seriously injured 6

Jul-Sep 
2018

9

Yes

P
age 144



Other additional relevant indicators

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 67.5 34.2 64.8
40 Alcohol specific hospital admissions 

for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 56.2 2014/15-
2016/17 N/a GREEN RED GREEN

No

Tracker 420.8 404.6 425.3
41 Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 

hospital as a result of self-harm 400.8 2016/17
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN

No

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

Comparison to
Ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Data 
updated 

this 
quarter

Tracker 15.7 9.9 11.6
76

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population

12.6 2014-16
N/a GREEN RED RED

No

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives? 

Tracker 96.3
84

% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process

95.3 Apr-Sep
2018 N/a AMBER

Yes

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held 2 November 2018
	7 Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service Update:
	010719-SS-CT-Item7-DARS-App2-PRES

	8 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service - Integrated Risk Management Plan Consultation:
	010719-SS-CT-Item8-IRMP-App2
	010719-SS-CT-Item8-IRMP-App3
	010719-SS-CT-Item8-IRMP-App4-PRES

	9 County Durham Youth Offending Service - Youth Justice Plan 2018/19:
	010719-SS-CT-Item9-YJP-App2

	10 Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Report:

